



National Sustainable Development Strategy



May, 2012

Pakistan's Pathwa

01



National Sustainable Development Strategy Pakistan's pathway to a sustainable & resilient future

May 2012

Lead Author: Malik Amin Aslam Khan (Former Minister of State for Environment /Senior Advisor UNDP)

Support Author: Ms. Amber Pervaiz (UNDP)

The work builds upon, and duly acknowledges, previous work done on the NSDS by SDPI (Sustainable Development Policy Institute) and Dr. Mohammad Aslam (Consultant) in 2009.

Table of Contents:

Executive Summary7
1. Sustainable and Inclusive Economic Growth 12
1.1. Population Dynamics and Sustainability
1.2. Agricultural Productivity and Food Security
1.3. Energy for Sustainable Development
1.4. Sustainable Consumption and Industrial Production (SCP)
1.5. Trade for Sustainable Development
1.6. Water Resource Management
1.7. Sustainable Tourism for Growth and Development
1.8. Green Economy Fuelled by Green Jobs
2. Social & Human Development
2.1. Deverty Eradication
2.1. Poverty Elduication 2.2. Gender Equality and Women Empowerment
2.2. Gender Equality and Women Empowerment
2.4. Health and Sustainable Development
2.5. Education for Sustainable Development
2.6. Water Supply and Sanitation
2.7. Social Protection
3. Environmentally Sustainable Development
3.1. Environmental Sustainability
3.3. Water Pollution and Quality Deterioration
3.4. Solid and Hazardous Waste Management
3.5. Forestry and Land Degradation
3.6. Biodiversity Protection
4. The Emerging issue of Climate Change and Sustainable Development
······································
4.1. The Pakistan Context
4.2. Climate triggered natural disasters and Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR)
4.3. The Economic costs of Adaptation and Sustainable Development
4.4. Potential Climate Mitigation and overlaps with Sustainable Development in Pakistan
4.5. Carbon Market in Pakistan – Financing Sustainable Development
4.0. Institutional Response to Chinate Change in Pakistan
5. Implementation Mechanism60
5.1 Elements of Success

- 5.2. The overall driver A Framework for Action
- 5.3. Institutional Framework for Implementation
- 5.4. Means of Implementation
- 5.5. Monitoring of Implementation
- 5.6. Integrating with the outcomes of Rio+20

List of Figures:

Figure 1:Pakistan's Growth Model (2011)1	.2
Figure 2: High Population Growth Source1	.3
Figure 3: Population Trends in Pakistan (Past and Projected)1	.4
Figure 4: Yield Gap in Pakistan 1	.6
Figure 5: Annual Energy Consumption1	.8
Figure 6: Gas Gap and Coverage Scenario (Million Cubic Feet/day)1	.8
Figure 7: Water Availability and Population Growth2	22
Figure 8: Poverty head-count rate in Pakistan 2	27
Figure 9: Food Availability per capita in Pakistan 2	29
Figure 10: Education Survey Snapshot	2
Figure 11: Forest cover in Pakistan, 1990-2005 4	3
Figure 12: Forest Distribution by Region in Pakistan4	6
Figure 13: Threats to Ecosystems in Pakistan 4	17
Figure 14: A generalized adaptation cost curve5	52
Figure 15: GHG emissions of Pakistan (1994 – 2008)5	;3
Figure 16: Total GHG Emissions 2011-50 (NEEDS, 2010)5	64
Figure 17: The Ten-Core Green Action agenda 6	50
Figure 18: Policies and Plans integral to Sustainable Development	51
Figure 19: Three tiered institutional framework for sustainable development	;3
Figure 20: Timeline for Operationalising and Monitoring the NSDS	54

List of Tables:

Table 1: Pakistan: Social Protection and Poverty Related Expenditure (Billion Rupees), 2003-2009
Table 2: Cost of Environmental Degradation in Pakistan 38
Table 3: Annual Cost of Urban Air Pollution Health Impacts (Billion Rs.)
Table 4: Sources of Hazardous Waste 42
Table 5: Land Resources of Pakistan (Significance, Threats and Management Interventions)
Table 6: Forest Services: Annual Deforestation cost (Million Rs.)
Table 7: Pakistan's Ranking in the German-Watch Climate Index 50
Table 8: Top 10 natural disasters in Pakistan (NEEDS, 2011) 50
Table 9: Estimates of Adaptation Costs per annum (2010-2040), (NEEDS, 2011)
Table 10: Sector-wise GHG Emissions 2011 – 2050 (NEEDS, 2010) 54
Table 11: Sector wise distribution of Pakistan's CDM project (MoE, 2010)
Table 12: NSDS Elements of successful implementation (IISD, 2006)

The Guiding Vision:

National Sustainable Development Strategy (NSDS) envisions to evolve a just and harmonious society in the country through promotion of a vibrant and equitable economic growth *without* overexploitation of natural resources *with* fair distribution of development dividends to all; *in particular* to the marginalized, poor and vulnerable in the society and to future generations.

Executive Summary:

Sustainable development has been defined¹ as "development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs". One of the central themes of this concept entails balancing the economic, social and environmental objectives of — the three dimensions of sustainable development — integrating them wherever possible, through mutually supportive policies and practices, and making trade-offs where it is not possible. A strategic approach to sustainable development also implies new ways of thinking and requires policy changes in many sectors while ensuring coherence between them.

The NSDS is an attempt to define sustainable development and the pathway to a "green economy" in Pakistan's context. It lays out an adaptive system and approach that can be continuously improved, through regular updates, to respond to evolving challenges. The focus has been on integrating not only across the three overall dimensions of economic, social and environment but also integrating the goals with the existing development paradigm with the aim of shifting it on to a more sustainable pathway.

The overall context of development and growth in Pakistan:

The dilemma faced by Pakistan is typical of countries wanting to follow the high growth curve and choose between economically growing first and then environmentally "cleaning up" later or deciding on the more sustainable and prudent, but seemingly more expensive, option of preventing or mitigating environmental damage while developing. The issues of unregulated growth including unplanned and rapid urbanization, untenable pressure on natural resources such as forests and water, heavy dependence on the finite fossil fuel based energy, air and water pollution are all demanding a global rethink. The "Green Economy" model, being currently framed globally especially in the context of Rio+20² meeting, is a response to this challenge. The NSDS, at this juncture, provides Pakistan's country driven future blueprint for a green economy.

Within the above context, it has to be appreciated that economic growth and development in Pakistan over the past decade has faced certain unique and unprecedented challenges which are in addition to the global stresses brought on by the financial crisis and the rampant fuel and food commodities inflation. These include:

- Facing up to a string of mega-natural disasters, most of them climate change triggered, and including two devastating floods in 2010 and 2011, two major droughts of 1999 and 2002, three big cyclones³ hitting the southern coast and the horrific earthquake which shook Northern Areas and parts of KPK ⁴& AJK⁵ in 2005.
- Economic, security, human and social impacts of the ongoing war in Afghanistan and the continued demands for dealing with security challenges and humanitarian needs of affected people, in particular, dealing with millions of IDP⁶'s apart from supporting the continuing burden of millions of Afghan refugees.

All of these have dampened and drained economic growth and directly threatened and eroded its sustainability. It is, thus, no surprise that the past three years has seen Pakistan going through a difficult

¹ The 1987 Brundtland Report

² United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development (June 20-22, 2012)

³ 1999, 2007 and 2010

⁴ Khyber Pakhtoonkhwa province

⁵ Azad, Jammu and Kashmir

⁶ Internally Displaced Persons

phase with the economic growth averaging a meager 2.6 percent as compared to 5.3 percent in the past eight years -reflecting a slowing growth momentum for the country's economy.

In addition to these challenges forced upon Pakistan, its economic growth is beset with large inefficiencies, particularly in the water, agriculture and energy sectors, which are putting an avoidable and undue stress upon its natural resource base.

Economic Challenges:

In any developing country, economic progress is considered the main pillar of development. In Pakistan's particular case, the model for economic progress and growth is marred with a number of inefficiencies in the important water, energy and agricultural sectors. Overall it is challenged by the exponentially high population growth, rapid urbanization, weak enforcement of environmental regulations and move towards unbridled consumerism all of which further drain an already strained economy. All these challenges are elaborated in the NSDS.

Pakistan's inefficient economy also provides an inherent opportunity to reverse these trends through, mostly, win-win options and to shift the country's economic growth towards a sustainable pathway. This pathway is defined in the NSDS through a number of strategic goals.

Strategic goals: The sectoral sections of the NSDS enlist the detailed strategic goals pertaining to each particular challenge. The focused "green action plan" provides the strategic direction that can lead towards a greening of the, traditionally, pro-poor economic growth model employed in Pakistan.

- Promoting cleaner production and encouraging sustainable consumption patterns in society.
- Promoting inclusive and sustainable growth through engaging the poor, women and youth, improved value addition chains, fair trade and public-private partnership.
- Prioritizing a reversal of inefficiencies in the water, energy and agriculture sectors.
- Internalizing true environmental costs in all economic decision and linking with global financial architecture to incentivize a green economy and aim to generate new job opportunities.

Social Challenges:

Sustainable development, in Pakistan, has to translate into promotion of pro-poor economic growth that is also environmentally sensitive. The social development challenges for Pakistan include achieving high and sustained and broad-based economic growth particularly in rural areas; providing essential social services and infrastructure to the poor and vulnerable; creating job opportunities, and improving the overall governance for effective delivery.

Strategic Goals: In this context, the NSDS through detailed strategic goals, highlights the need to improve the overall governance in the country and addresses the challenges of delivery of essential services such as health and education for the people and encompasses the promotion of targeted social support policies and programs that can lead to a reduction of inequalities and improvements in food security, energy security or security against natural and other calamities and emergencies. The primary focus is on establishing a just and progressive society, as is the objective of the "Green Action Agenda" through:

- Alleviation of poverty and promoting equity amongst society, in particular, through providing universal coverage of basic needs, particularly, health, education and welfare and using them as engines for an equitable green economy.
- Extending social protection and safety nets for the poorest and most vulnerable particularly women.

• Productively enabling the expanding "youth bulge" present in the country as well as empowering women.

Environmental Challenges:

Pakistan faces serious environmental problems, most of which can be attribute to accelerating but poorly regulated economic development, even thought it has slowed down recently, as well as rapid demographic growth that has put acute pressure on the country's natural resource base, especially land and water, and significantly increased levels of local pollution. Thus, natural resource degradation and pollution, especially in urban areas, are the core environmental challenges facing the country.

Unless the management of natural resources can be improved and pollution levels reduced, they could easily jeopardize sustainable economic growth as is evident by the costs of environmental degradation estimated at 6% of GDP/year⁷. Integrating environmental concerns into the mainstream development process can assist in identifying and capitalizing upon the positive linkages between economic growth and environmental protection, and shift the country's development onto a sustainable trajectory. Only this can address issues such as the unsustainable patterns of consumption and production, resource exploitation and mismanagement, lack of waste management treatment and disposal, unsustainable land and forest management, mismanagement of scarce water and energy resources, air and water pollution, and industrial and hospital waste. All of these constitute an avoidable stress on the economy that can be strategically addressed.

The climate change issue, is now adding an additional and inescapable stress upon the burden of managing environmental sustainability.

Strategic Goals: The environment section enlists detailed strategic goals for addressing air and water pollution, land degradation and forestry issues, waste management, improving environmental governance and protection of the country's unique biodiversity. The overall focus is on safeguarding the environment by:

- Conserving and enhancing the natural resource base while protecting biodiversity and managing fragile ecosystems through an integrated natural resource management approach.
- Enhancing the life support system by addressing air and water pollution and reducing the ecological footprint of growth through strengthening the regulatory framework and community-based interventions.
- Preparing for climate change and its accompanying uncertainties through comprehensive adaptation and mitigation planning and concrete implementation measures.

Climate Change and Sustainable Development in Pakistan

Climate change directly and very strongly impinges upon future planning for sustainable development in Pakistan. It poses a major threat to food, water and energy security in the country. In addition coastal and marine environment, dryland ecosystems, agriculture and livestock sector, forests and biodiversity and health are other areas that will be seriously affected as the climate induced melting of glaciers, cyclonic storm surges, tropical diseases epidemics, flash floods, droughts and variable monsoons turn into an inevitable future reality for Pakistan.

It, thus, comes as no surprise that the estimated cost for facing and adapting to future climate impacts ranges from U\$ 6 billion to U\$ 14 billion annually for Pakistan over the next 40 year horizon⁸ - a number

⁷ World Bank, "Pakistan Strategic Country Environmental Assessment" study (2006)

⁸ Aslam, Malik Amin et al, Pakistan Climate NEEDS Study (2011), UNFCCC publication, Bonn.

which is likely to escalate. These figures re-enforce the inescapable linkage between climate impacts and sustaining future development in the country and the need to not only integrate these into future planning but also develop a comprehensive adaptation plan to control the costs and associated risks in the future.

Along with the impacts and threats, climate change also provides an opportunity for undertaking a number of win-win mitigation and adaptation options that can lead to a low carbon development in the country and also extend other benefits such as energy and water security. Despite the challenges of cyclical and unpredictable prices, the carbon market remains potentially an effective financing mechanism that can be leveraged for this purpose through a conducive enabling environment both domestically and globally.

Strategic Goals: A number of strategic goals have been enlisted in the climate change chapter with the overall aim of preparing the country to adapt to this inescapable future reality through measures such as disaster risk reduction and management, vulnerability mapping, community based adaptation, sustainable land management and undertaking future climate resilient development especially for the infrastructure sector.

Moreover, the goals provide for undertaking steps to grow along a low carbon trajectory that is in line with national development priorities such as energy conservation and renewable energy promotion while suggesting an institutional framework, driven through a "National Climate Change Fund", to facilitate and finance this transition.

Implementation Strategy:

To ensure an effective implementation of the NSDS the enlisted strategic goals are translated into a focused agenda encompassing three levels of national governance - federal, provincial and local - along with an accountability structure. In this regards, the NSDS has identified ten core program areas under a "Green Action Agenda" within the three globally accepted development dimensions.

Institutional framework: To facilitate the achievement of this agenda, the strategy has outlined a three level institutional framework that is based upon the existing national framework with its current readjustments in the post-18th amendment scenario whereby significant federal powers were devolved to the provinces.

The framework should be spearheaded at the federal level by a N-SDC (National Sustainable Development Council) and it is proposed that the existing high-powered PEPC's (Pakistan Environmental Protection Council) remit should be legislatively enabled and expanded for this purpose. It would, thereby, provides an overarching coordinating body that would extend a strategic focus to sustainable development activities in the country. At the provincial level it would be linked to a P-SDC (Provincial SD Council) and then at the district level with a L-SDC (Local SD Council), which would be responsible for developing and implementing a provincial sustainable development strategy, if deemed appropriate, projects as well as periodically tracking the implementation progress. Locally generated ideas, approaches and projects would be prioritized to create an effective partnership at all levels.

Means of implementation: The proposed institutional framework, driven by the action agenda, will also require other facilitating factors to create a conducive enabling environment for implementation, which have been outlined in the NSDS. These could include a dedicated financing mechanism, enabling human and institutional capacity, incorporating targeted incentives, ensuring accountability and transparency, providing a legal backing to the NSDS, enacting a science and innovation support network and also leveraging civil society and private sector support to ensure success of the strategy. A timed road-map to introduce appropriate legislation re-mandating the

PEPC, enacting parliamentary Standing Committees on sustainable development as well as establishing a Sustainable development fund has been proposed.

Monitoring progress for success: Additionally a comprehensive process for monitoring supported by a feedback mechanism that can incorporate positive learning and ensure continuous improvement has been added. This includes the provisions for annual progress and implementation reporting at provincial and local levels, generating three yearly global reports at federal level and regular updates and evolutionary improvement of the NSDS after every three years.

Finally, in implementing the NSDS, the challenge is to evolve, and not rigidly impose, a system that can effectively reset the country's development and growth trajectory on to a more sustainable pathway. There should be continued support and policy shift towards sustainable development concerns, through a network of institutions in line with the prioritized needs of the country and the evolving global sustainable development agenda.

Chapter 1.

SUSTAINABLE & INCLUSIVE ECONOMIC GROWTH

"Our foot is stuck on the accelerator and we are heading towards an abyss."

(Ban Ki Moon, 2009)

1. Sustainable Economic Growth

The economic dimensions, being the main engine of growth as well as poverty reduction, are central to the promotion of sustainable development. Within this context, the dilemma faced by Pakistan is typical of countries aspiring to follow a high growth curve which is to choose between economically growing first and then environmentally "cleaning up" later or deciding on the more sustainable and prudent, but seemingly more expensive, option of preventing or mitigating environmental damage while developing. Many countries that have tried the former growth model are now paying a heavy cost for halting and reversing the trends of environmental degradation deemed necessary to ensure a satisfactory and sustainable quality of life.

Moreover, it is becoming apparent that there is no assurance that a country can simply "grow out" of environmental or socially problems with economic gains. The issues of unregulated growth including unplanned and rapid urbanization, untenable pressure on natural resources such as forests and water, heavy dependence on the finite fossil fuel based energy, air and water pollution all are demanding a global rethink. The "Green Economy" model, being currently framed at the international level, is a response to this challenge and an effort to develop an economic growth model which is environmentally and socially sustainable and can reverse the alarming trends of global growth which are resource inefficient and beyond the globe's bio-capacity. In the most recent focal policy titled "Framework for Economic Growth" (2011), Pakistan has made an attempt to define its growth along the social (focus on youth and community development), environmental (quality of governance, sustainable cities) and economic (markets development, governance improvements) aspects and with an overall focus towards advancing the quality of life for its citizens (Figure-1).



Figure 1:Pakistan's Growth Model (2011)⁹

Within the above context, it has to be appreciated that economic growth and development in Pakistan over the past decade has faced certain unique and unprecedented challenges. These include:

⁹ Framework for Economic Growth, (2011), GOP document.

- Facing up to a string of mega-natural disasters, most of them climate change triggered, and including two devastating floods in 2010 and 2011, two major droughts of 1999 and 2002, three big cyclones hitting the southern coast¹⁰ and the horrific earthquake disaster which shook Northern Areas and parts of KPK & AJK¹¹ in 2005.
- Economic, security related, human and social impacts of the ongoing war in Afghanistan and the continued demands for dealing with security challenges and humanitarian needs of people affected in particular dealing with millions of IDP's apart from the continuing burden of supporting millions of Afghan refugees.

All of these have dampened and drained economic growth and directly threatened and eroded the sustainability of Pakistan's development. It is, thus, no surprise that the past three years has seen Pakistan going through an unsteady phase with the economic growth averaging a meager 2.6 percent as compared to 5.3 percent in the preceding eight years -reflecting a slowing growth momentum for the country's economy. In addition to the above-mentioned extraneous, and mostly unavoidable and unwarranted challenges, Pakistan's economic growth is beset with large inefficiencies, particularly in the water, agriculture and energy sectors, which are putting undue stress upon its natural resource base. These inherent inefficiencies are outlined in the sections below and clearly show that there is both an urgent need and potential to improve the eco-efficiency of the economic system in Pakistan. However, these economic inefficiencies also provide a potential silver lining through a win-win opportunity to decrease costs while producing more efficiently using fewer resources and with a reduced ecological impact.

Within the above context, following have been identified as major challenges faced by the country in its quest to strategize towards and implement sustainable economic development:

1.1. Population Dynamics and Sustainability

Context: There is a strong empirical link between population and sustainable development (Figure-2). Pakistan's current population is estimated to be 176 million and is projected to reach over 350 million by 2050, thus, further burdening the country's already fragile economy and putting mounting pressure upon its already scarce and depleting natural resources. This burgeoning and growing population poses the most serious challenge to any future economic and environmental sustainability. According to the "Pakistan's Framework for Economic growth", as population has grown exponentially it has become evident that the corresponding levels of poverty have also increased in Pakistan.

Issues and Trends: According to Vision 2030 Pakistan is projected to become the fifth largest country by 2030, with a population ranging between 230 and 260 million people, with almost 60 percent living in urban areas. Whereas Pakistan's per capita GDP (at constant market prices of 2005) is expected to nearly quadruple by 2030, advancing from Rs.43,000 in 2005 to Rs.164,000 in 2030.⁻ and 1.4% in GDP and population respectively. These proj



Figure 2: High Population Growth Source: Pakistan's National Human development Report 2003

¹⁰ 1999, 2007 and 2010

¹¹ Azad, Jammu and Kashmir

population growth as well as increasing urbanization. Already, Pakistan is the fastest urbanizing country within South Asia (Figure-3). Pakistan fully recognizes the links between population dynamics and sustainable development as population and economic growth are driving consumption in Pakistan and will continue to do so as millions of consumers put additional demand for goods, services and the national commons.



Figure 3: Population Trends in Pakistan (Past and Projected)¹²

Another trend within this sector is that currently, Pakistan's 50 per cent population is below 20 years of age and over 60 per cent below 30 years creating a massive "youth bulge". Rising unemployment is creating an economic disconnect and impeding any positive and sustainable reinforcements from this trend. It is essential to reap this demographic dividend by productively engaging and utilizing this huge potential work asset present in Pakistan otherwise it could further burden the economy with a rising liability. Thus, improving education including vocational training as well as access to education for all is essential.

Finally, as the income levels grow in Pakistan, it is important to inculcate a consciousness for the environment and not follow the high consumption and wasteful pattern of growth adopted in most developed countries.

- Making it a national priority to control the exponential growth in population through targeted measures and programs.
- Ensure universal access to health and education for this huge population particularly focusing on infant mortality, women and elderly in the health sector and the disadvantaged and school dropout children in the education sector.
- Focus on empowerment of women through education and awareness raising as well as removing discrimination barriers to ensure productive integration of women towards economic development.
- Regulate and direct the increasing urbanization by focusing on making cities more sustainable and the engines of growth, as also outlined in the "Framework for Economic Growth" (2011).

¹² Framework for Economic Growth, 2011, GoP Document

- Undertake focused programs for the burgeoning youth in the country through education and technical training and vocational programs as well as creating job opportunities to productively enable the "youth bulge" increasingly present in Pakistan.
- Invest in people and develop their skill sets, through targeted programs on job oriented vocational and technical training, to enable them to contribute towards the country's development

1.2. AGRICULTURE PRODUCTIVITY AND FOOD SECURITY

Context: Agricultural sector has traditionally been a vital source of economic growth for Pakistan generating about 21% of the country's gross domestic product (GDP), employing over 50% of the rural labor force while accounting for 60% to 70% of exports. However, it faces serious challenges such as decreased availability of irrigation water including depleting aquifers, deteriorating soil health due to water logging and salinity and deterioration of the quality of sub-soil water all of which alarmingly coincides with a population led exponential growth in demand. Additionally, a substantial amount of fertile farmland is being increasingly lost to urbanization and water logging. All of this is increasingly leading to not only food scarcity but also food inflation that is following the global trends of high food commodity prices and inflation.

Issues and trends: The agricultural sector has lost significant growth momentum slowing down to 2.7 percent in the last decade as against 4.4 percent in 1990's and 5.4 percent in the 1980's. Alongside the structural and weak governance problems impeding growth, the major crops have also been the victim of climate change triggered natural calamities¹³ during the last few years. Thus, three out of last four years witnessed negative growth in the major crop sector. The livestock sector, having 55.1 percent stake in the agricultural sector, was also impacted by the massive floods and witnessed 3.7 % growth in 2010-11 as compared to 4.3 % in 2009.

Pakistan's agricultural performance is heavily dependent upon availability of irrigation water that is under increasing stress. As against the normal surface water availability at canal heads of 103.5 million-acre feet (MAF), the overall (both for summer/kharif and winter/rabi crops) water availability has been 20 percent below normal in 2010-11. The Green Revolution in Pakistan increased yields through use of high yielding crop varieties requiring intensive use of fertilizers and other inputs. However, as a side result, the level of environmental pollution also increased through the intensive use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides. Also, the promotion of rain-fed agriculture in dry land ecosystems which covers most of the land area of the country was not given due attention. Significantly, such practices have lead to nitrate pollution of ground water and soil salinization as well as being the source for various gastric and water borne diseases – all negatively impacting on sustainable economic growth. The agriculture sector in Pakistan is also beset with inefficiencies both in the use of irrigation water and fertilizers. The consumption of fertilizer per hectare in Pakistan (133 kg approx) is high but still commensurate crop yields have not been forthcoming thought it has brought in the potential for pollution hazard¹⁴.

The overall trend created by these inefficiencies of use coupled with the continued stress on agricultural production and exponentially rising population demand is leading to a serious challenge in terms of sustaining food security in Pakistan. The National Nutrition Survey 2011 for Pakistan, states that since 2006 food insecure population has increased by 12 million, while the number of severely food insecure population has risen from 9.6 million to 45.3 million that is 28% of the population. Also, the UN in another study has tabulated that in 2008 almost 51% of the population (72 million) survived at less than 2100 calories per day.

¹³ The floods in July 2010 destroyed two major crops, i.e. rice and cotton, an area of 2.364 million hectares under *Kharif crops 2010* was damaged.

¹⁴ Khashkheli, M.A, 2009, Sustainable agriculture and fertilizer practices in Pakistan, <u>http://www.pakissan.com/english/allabout/farminputs/fertilizers/sustainable.agriculture.and.fertilizer.shtml</u>)

The silver lining on the above scenario is that with enhanced water use efficiency and employing latest technologies with a move towards high value added agriculture has paid dividends in Pakistan. This is apparent from the performance of "progressive" farmers who have managed to develop high productivity enclaves within the country (Figure-4). This is a model that needs to be replicated through more effective agricultural extension services for small and medium farm owners and supportive research.

Crop	Progressive Farmers	National Average	Vield Difference (%)
Wheat	4.5	2,6	44
Cotton	2.6	1.0	31
Rice	3.8	2.1	45
Maize	6.9	2.9	58

Yield Gap (Tons/hectare) in Pakistan



- The Government will aim for plugging the inefficiencies and promoting sustainable production in the agricultural sector focusing on improving the irrigation water use efficiency, optimal fertilizer use, diffusion of water conservation, improving water storage and rain water harvesting, encouraging on farm water management, Integrated Pest Management, Integrated Nutritional Management as well as on-farm crop residue and waste management.
- Focus on both diversification and modernization of agriculture to ensure food security through productivity increases.
- Both Public and private investments as well as partnerships need to be encouraged to strengthen the research and extension system for developing and disseminating environment friendly technologies and practices. The country's top research bodies need to be supported, in particular PARC (Pakistan Agri Research Council), NARC (National Agricultural Research Council) and Agricultural Universities.
- Efforts would be made to benefit both from economies of scale through cooperative farming as well as for attracting investments to employ the best available technologies and maximize food productivity amongst small landholders.
- Encourage access to export markets through improved transport and infrastructure facilities and facilitating packaging and labeling that is able to meet requisite international standards.
- The concept of organic farming needs to be encouraged along with biological control of pests through IPM techniques, rational use of agrochemicals as well as promotion of indigenous and non-hybrid variety of seeds.
- Genetically modified seeds should only be imported, researched and promoted through a properly regulated process of approval, application and monitoring.

¹⁵ Aziz, Sartaj (2009), "Task force on Food Security", Planning Commission, Government of Pakistan.

- Strengthen science-based organizations and technology innovations in order to enhance basic agronomic research into new varieties and climate resilient crops and to reduce the high level of post-harvest losses, and employ environmentally- sound multi-cropping and crop management practices.
- Develop effective links with other South Asian countries to study and learn from their agricultural practices and research including for arid zone agriculture.
- The unregulated urbanization through encroachment of fertile agricultural land needs to be urgently controlled through targeted legislation, responsive urban land use planning and strict zoning enforcement.
- Soil fertility management, rehabilitation of degraded lands and desertification control would be given high priority by promoting sustainable land management in the country.
- Livestock production would be increased through intensive investment in research to produce high yielding breeds based on local varieties, sustainable management of rangelands and disease preventive measures.
- Short term targeted interventions would be developed to support vulnerable groups in years of crop failure owing to natural calamities.
- Shift the pattern of production towards higher value-added activities particularly through horticulture, oilseed, livestock and fisheries sectors.
- Ensure uninterrupted and prioritized energy supply for agriculture at subsidized rates to ensure productivity increases and improve the food security in the country.
- Strengthening hill torrent (Rod Kohi) irrigation system for increasing productive land area and restoring the traditional underground (Karez) water channel systems in Baluchistan province.

1.3. ENERGY FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT:

Context: Access and availability of affordable energy is the most essential component for fuelling development and, subsequently, for eradication of poverty. Sustainable energy accessibility and efficiency (increasing resource productivity) is, thus, considered central to sustainable economic growth as well as reducing high cost of energy. However 30% of the population in Pakistan has no access to electricity, and about 80% have no access pipeline gas. Pakistan, thus, ranks a dismal 165 out of 218 countries in per capita access to electricity¹⁶.

Moreover, facing consistent shortfalls of energy, Pakistan needs a special focus on this sector as the losses arising from power and gas shortages alone have affected 3-4 percentage of GDP in 2011-2012. The energy deficit, in both electricity and gas, has directly impacted the industrial growth in the country. It has not only directly crippled the country's economic growth but also, indirectly impacted the health and education sectors as well as impeding the potential growth of cottage industries and small businesses.

Issues and Trends: Pakistan energy mix is comprised of gas, oil, electricity and liquid petroleum gas (LPG) with different levels of shares. The share of gas consumption is 43.9 percent in total energy mix, followed by oil 27.9 percent, electricity 15.6, coal 11 percent and LPG 1.5 percent. During the period 2001-10, the

¹⁶ Friends of Democratic Pakistan (FoDP), "Integrated Energy Sector Recovery Plan" (2010), Energy sector task force report. Islamabad-Pakistan.

consumption of petroleum products has increased by an average of 1.3 percent per annum (Figure-5). Within this overall increase, the relative increase of gas, electricity and coal consumption has been averaging 6 percent, 4.9 percent and 9.1 percent per annum. The changing trend in energy consumption shows a shift towards gas and coal – both indigenous resources.

Viscal Year	Petroleum Products		- C a	18	Sector sits) Fearl	
	Tone (1990)	Change: (%)	(ix.mci()	Change (No)	(Gwh)	Change (%)	M.T* (000)	Change (15)
2685-42	16,960	.19	\$34,665	74	\$8623	4.2	4,425,64	9.0
2083-03	10,653	3.0	\$72,264	5.8	53,656	4.6	4,885,00	99.9
2003-04	\$3,627	4.2.5	3,061,038	20.5	33.(0)	< 2	6 064 50	30.0
2086-06	1.0.671	0.1	1,161,663	30.0	61,327	6.7	7.601.60	30.2
2008-36	14,625	-0.3	1,223,185	5.4	67,603	10.2	7714.00	2.3
2006-37	16,8617	12.2	1,221,994	-0.1	72,712	*.6	7,894.10	2.3
2007-08	18,080	7.3	1,278,212	4.4	73,400	8.9	10,110.66	28.1
2008-09	17,911	-0.9	1,259,433	-0.5	70,371	4.1	8,390	-17.00
2009-10	19,830	6.8	1,277,821	0.65	74,348	5.65	8,129	-2.99
Arg. 9 years		13		6.0		4.9		0,1
July March								
2009-10	13,835		919,675		54,583		5,344	
2010-11 (a)	13,600	-0.97	0.10,040	-2.03	56,198	2.8	5,850	10.29

Figure 5: Annual Energy Consumption (Source: Pakistan Economic Survey 2010-2011)

The gas based shift is, however, constrained owing to the dwindling gas reserves in the country and rising demands which have created a rising "gas gap" (Figure-6). The Government is planning to overcome this through enhanced investments and explorations in the sector as well as through options of importing LNG and natural gas through pipelines from Iran and Turkmenistan which must be pursued as a priority. In the long run Pakistan aims to shift its primary energy mix from fuel oil and to some extent from natural gas to hydel, coal, nuclear and alternative and renewable energy sources all of which have considerable untapped potential.



Figure 6: Gas Gap and Coverage Scenario (Million Cubic Feet/day)¹⁷

Based on current estimates, hydropower currently contributes only 6,500 MW to the energy mix against its estimated potential of 54,000 MW. Also, there is approximately 185 billion Mtons¹⁸ of untapped coal that is equivalent to around 617 billion barrels of crude oil that, potentially, could be enough to provide over 20,000 MW of electricity for a period of 40 years. Similarly, the wind potential a survey conducted by the Pakistan Meteorological Department indicates that wind power potential exists in the coastal belt of Pakistan with a wind corridor that is 60 km wide (Gharo-keti Bandar) and 180 km long (up to Hyderabad). This corridor alone has the exploitable potential of 40,000 MW of electricity generation.

Moreover, in-spite of inherent inefficiencies in the energy system the country has failed to make energy efficiency a priority in mainstream policy development in the sector. As a result, Pakistan's energy intensity is

¹⁷ OGRA's report (State of the Regulated Petroleum Industry 2008-09

¹⁸ The largest reserves, 175 billion tons of lignite coal, are located in the Thar Desert of Sindh

high. It uses 15% more energy than India and 25% more than the Philippines for each dollar of its gross domestic product. There are high transmissions and distribution losses in the power system estimated at about 22%. According to the National Energy Conservation Centre (ENERCON), annual energy savings of up to 25% are possible in all sectors that translate into approximately \$3 billion in savings annually¹⁹.

- Radical shift towards energy policy focusing on self-reliance and diversifying the energy mix while optimizing energy conservation options in the country.
- Prioritize the expansion and suitable enhancement of nuclear energy and large hydel power projects in the country as low carbon emitting options with valuable co-benefits in securing energy as well as water security in the country. For nuclear power expansion, policy priority should be accorded to a sustained international campaign towards reaching an understanding with the Nuclear Suppliers Group (NSG).
- Increasing deployment of alternative and renewable energy sources (Small hydel, wind and solar) to meet increasing energy demand in the country targeting them to become, at least, 12 percent of the total energy mix by the year 2022.
- Initiate and introduce financially attractive policies on renewables to maximize their utilization and attract international and domestic investors in this sector
- Develop policies such as Feed in Tariffs to encourage consumer level investments in renewables.
- A focus is required on utilization of indigenous as a high priority and employing the best available "clean coal" technologies along side exploring options of carbon capture and storage in order to grow along an optimal carbon emissions trajectory. Appropriate technology transfer would be specially required for this purpose especially for research and development of this evolving technology.
- Utilize financing options from the global carbon market to finance the costs of employing such technologies as renewable, energy conservation, "clean" coal as well as carbon capture and storage.
- Increase to maximize the indigenous production of natural gas in the country while also prioritizing gas pipelines from Iran and Turkmenistan to bridge the "gas gap".
- Positioning Pakistan to benefit from its unique geographical location by developing appropriate infrastructure and entering agreements offering an energy trade corridor in the region as well as for cross border trade of electric power.
- Identify and capitalize upon energy conservation as well as energy efficiency improvement options in the country most of which extend feasible options such as energy monitoring systems, smart grids and smart meters.
- Rehabilitation and repowering of power plants may be given high priority to get more capacity as well as higher efficiency including through combined cycle technology.
- Initiate a Solar Water heater promotions program to offset the high residential area gas consumption for water hearting (almost 21% used at a low utilization efficiency of 30%)²⁰.
- Initiate a tube well replacement program for older inefficient tube wells with new improved models targeting at least 20000 pumps within the next 3 years.

¹⁹ ENERCON website (http://www.enercon.gov.pk).

²⁰ SNGPL sources

• Introduce awareness campaigns to explain benefits of energy efficiency and to change energyuse/consumption behavior overall.

1.4. SUSTAINABLE CONSUMPTION AND INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION (SCP)

Context: To pursue sustainable economic growth in Pakistan there is a need to reduce the resource intensity of consumption. This can be achieved by reducing the material/resource intensity of growth through the application of eco-efficiency standards, which will delink the rate of economic growth from materials, land and energy use rate of growth. The results of such a partial delinking, also known as decoupling is a more efficient use of resources.

Also, the Government recognizes environmental management and cleaner production as an opportunity to improve the efficiency of industrial production. To facilitate this the government must provide an enabling environment including augmenting the science and technology apparatus of the private sector, bringing research institutions up to the international standards, and streamlining of technology creation, absorption and diffusion systems to diversify production towards employment of new and clean technology.

Issues and Trends: Overall, the awareness of the environmental effects of industrial production in Pakistan is quite limited. Several cleaner production initiatives have been undertaken in Pakistan in the past decade, primarily focusing on assessment of needs, energy audits, provision of technical assistance to the industry in adopting energy efficiency, promoting waste water recycling techniques and raising awareness of cleaner production packages. Despite these initiatives, the manufacturing sector lacks know-how and capacity for application of sustainable production technologies and awareness of the environmental impacts and potential financial benefits associated with them.

The national environmental quality standards (NEQS) are intended to regulate the discharge of industrial effluents to surface waters, however, in the absence of strong monitoring and enforcement, compliance is very low. It has been reported that in Lahore, only 3 out of some 100 industries using hazardous chemicals treat their wastewater adequately. In Karachi, two of the biggest industrial estates in Pakistan have no effluent treatment plant, and effluent containing hazardous materials, including heavy metals, is discharged directly into the river and harbor.

- Improve eco-efficiency by changing the production and consumption patterns and enabling the internalization of environmental costs into pricing mechanisms.
- Enhance sustainable consumption by sensitizing end users/consumers on environmentally friendly choices through awareness raising and other measures such as eco-labelling, equipment energy rating systems, information disclosure, corporate rating system and promotion of consumer associations.
- Establishing building codes to ensure that energy efficiency measures are also incorporated in building designs (green buildings).
- Strive to promote sustainable production system by decoupling the increasing intensity of resource use from the rate of economic growth in the first phase and to follow it up with dematerialized growth in the next phase.
- Install Combined Effluent Treatment Plants (CETPs) in all major industrial areas to facilitate cleaner production.

- Introduce and promote cleaner production incentives through market-based instruments including environmental taxes; user fees; targeted subsidies; eco-labels etc.
- Improve legal and regulatory framework in tune with the needs for cleaner production in the industrial sector and also strengthen monitoring and reporting mechanisms.

1.5. TRADE FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Context: Trade is an important instrument of growth and plays a pivotal role in accelerating growth and enhancing production and competitiveness of an economy leading to development of the country and general improvement in quality of life for the citizens. The challenge is to develop in a manner where environment is not abused for its resources but is considered to be a vital characteristic of growth itself while resisting any biased trade conditionalities.

Issues and Trends: The sustainable trade issues of concerns to Pakistan can be divided into two categories, the first include issues related to the production and export of goods from the country and the other relates to the trade flows through imports. Both channels of trade are subject to meeting the environment and regulatory standards set through global regimes including the WTO and other MEAs (Multilateral Environmental Agreements).

The country has to guard against the production of any export goods through environmentally hazardous processes or the import of materials restricted through various conventions to which Pakistan is a signatory such as Basel Convention, CITES, GMO's under Cartagena Protocol, UNFCCCC and import of CFC's under Montreal Protocol. Negligence to develop the crucial linkages among trade, investment and climate policies may impact Pakistan import and export goods. This could manifest through entry restrictions for developed markets, shift in comparative advantage in agriculture sector with serious threat to food security, facing charges of "eco dumping" as well as a degradation of domestic natural resources

Being cognizant of the above needs, the Government of Pakistan has taken several positive trade measures to promote sustainable trade and industrial production. For example the duty on the import of environmental abatement equipments and machineries has been reduced to help compliance with the National Environmental Quality Standards and ISO 14000. The Government also provides 50% contribution in the processing fee, to the industries applying for ISO 14000 certification. The Government also launched a program called "SMART" (Self Monitoring and Reporting Tool) to monitor release of effluents and emissions from the Industries. Also, Pakistan has developed product and process standards, such as NEQSs, which are of great relevance to the environment-trade interface.

- Better understanding and cohesion of trade, investment, industrial and legal framework and climate change policies would help to achieve the long-term objective of sustainable development.
- Any industrial and trade activities that could be anti environment/climate would be discouraged through fiscal measures.
- Strengthen the private sector and upgrade its capability and capacity to be aware and responsive to any environmental concerns linked with international trade.
- Strengthen Pakistan's CDM capacity to guide and assist public and private sector explore the opportunities of carbon trade in international market through CDM projects.
- Pursue financial assistance and technology transfer at international level to promote clean technology in country to make the country more competitive in the international market.

1.6. WATER RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Context: The critical role of water in Pakistan's sustainable development cannot be understated. Pakistan is one of the most water stressed countries in the world and is rapidly heading towards becoming water scarce.²¹ Per capita water availability has sharply declined from 2,900 m³ in 1981 to around 1,100 m³ in 2010 for a current population of more than 176 million. This situation will worsen as the population increases and climate change effects decrease water availability. Based on current trends it is likely that per capita water availability will decline to around 800 m³ by 2025, which will make Pakistan a water scarce country (Figure-7). Effective future development, conservation and management of water resources therefore are vital to Pakistan's overall economic development, food security and health of its population.



Figure 7: Water Availability and Population Growth²²

The country faces numerous challenges in the development and management of its scarce water resources, including: increasing stress and decreasing water security, reducing water storage in the country, dilapidated infrastructure, limited rain water harvesting and hill torrent utilization, an inadequate knowledge base, dependence on a single basin with no scope for additional water and a dwindling water resource base, the potential threat of climate change, lack of financial sustainability, over exploitation and deteriorating quality of surface and ground water, need for improved governance, low water efficiency and productivity, weakened institutions, low trust, weak information systems, and lack of strategic planning and poor management capacity.

Issues and Trends: It is quite evident that existing water resources would not be able to fulfill the future rising demands for water. Pakistan is dependent on a single source of surface water, the Indus basin, particularly for agricultural irrigation²³. However, Pakistan lacks adequate water storage facilities that can maximize the benefits from the water availability even from this basin. The existing water storage capacity in the Indus basin is only about 12% with the existing reservoirs barely able to store 30 days of water, which is low by international standards. Also, even this storage capacity is fast depleting due to significant sedimentation.

Moreover, the current water use efficiency in irrigation is around 40% - meaning that around 60% of river water is lost in the system. To add to this inefficient utilization, the potential impact of climate change is expected to have an enormous, and yet unpredictable, affects on Indus basin flows due to glacial melting and monsoonal shifts.

The Groundwater abstraction for irrigation, drinking and industrial purposes has experienced a sharp increase owing to substantial reduction in canal water supplies and is fast approaching unsustainable limits.

In addition water pollution, from both municipal and industrial sources is also of grave concern in Pakistan. The Pakistan Council for Research in Water Resources (PCRWR) carried out a national water quality study in

²¹ A water stressed country has an annual per capita water availability of less than 1,700m³, while a water-scarce country has an annual per capita water availability of less than 1,000m³.

²² Friends of Democratic Pakistan (FoDP), "Integrated Energy Sector Recovery Plan" (2010), Energy sector task force report. Islamabad-Pakistan

²³ About 80% of the arable land and 90% of the agricultural output are entirely dependent on irrigation.

2001, which indicated that the uncontrolled discharge of industrial effluent has severely affected surface and groundwater, identifying the presence of lead, chromium and cyanide in groundwater samples especially around industrial areas of Karachi. Consequently, only sixty-five percent of Pakistan's population is considered to have access to safe drinking water and the future sustainability of the existing drinking water supply systems is also under extreme stress.

The combination of poor coverage and quality of water supply and sanitation has severe consequences for national health. In Pakistan, 25-30 percent of all hospital admissions are connected to water-borne bacterial and parasitic conditions, with 60 percent of infant deaths caused by water infections. According to some estimates, more than 10,000 people die annually of renal infection due to polluted water.

Strategy

- Government would construct medium and large dams/reservoirs to attain multiple benefits such as increasing the storage capacity, hydel power production, flood management as well as regulating and reducing wastage of water within the system as well as to the sea.
- Encourage run of river projects for hydel power generation while preserving local ecology.
- Appropriate rain water harvesting technologies would be promoted in rural as well as urban areas.
- Modernize the institutional arrangements and invest in developing the water delivery through piping and sewerage services in all major cities and towns.
- Invest in the infrastructure and institutions necessary for a more effective and equitable management of floods.
- Ensure sustainable availability of water at macro and micro level through the equitable access to water resources for sufficient and consistent availability of water for agriculture, industry and domestic use.
- Focus on the protection of watersheds, catchment areas for aquifers, national wetlands and other water-bodies as well as promote integrated watershed management particularly in Northern Areas.
- Promotion of efficient use of water through rationalizing cost of water use as well as encouraging practices such as lining of canals to reduce leakages and technologies like drip and sprinkler irrigation.
- Encourage the recycling and reuse of agricultural wastewater through advanced scientific techniques such as employment of microbes.
- Ensure the implementation of National Drinking Water Policy at all levels. In this regards, increase coverage of clean drinking water supply through the installation of water treatment plants as an integral component of all drinking water supply schemes to attain the objective of 93 percent coverage of population till 2015.
- Capacity building and developing the knowledge base to manage the large and complex canal delivery water system in Pakistan.
- Employ a participatory approach in water management that will engage all stakeholders, particularly marginal groups like women and poor.

1.7. SUSTAINABLE TOURISM FOR GROWTH and DEVELOPMENT

Context: Tourism is a major global industry playing a significant role in the economies of many developed and developing countries. Its importance can not be over stated and Pakistan needs to fulfill its potential for attracting domestic and foreign tourists. Within this service oriented sector, Sustainable Tourism including eco-tourism is a vital sector that has the potential to contribute to the economic growth, development and employment creation while also leading to a sustainable management and conservation of ecological resources as well as life support systems.

Issues and Trends: Although the tourism sector, if efficiently managed, is considered one of the biggest income-generating sectors it remains under considerable stress in Pakistan. The lack of adequate support infrastructure, poorly regulated resource utilization (e.g. water consumption, waste generation and indiscriminate energy use), lack of initiatives to promote tourism, the destructive effects of natural disasters (earthquake and floods) particularly on tourist infrastructure, security challenges due to country's engagement in the war in Afghanistan in all the provinces, negative image portrayal of the country abroad, absence of entertainment options and other socio-cultural constraints all impede the potential development of this promising sector in Pakistan.

Strategy:

- Provide incentives to provinces to promote both domestic and foreign tourism and strengthen the existing policies on tourism that can contribute to preserving the natural and cultural assets of the country as well as generating increased revenues for conservation.
- Promote eco-tourism as well as sustainable adventure tourism in the country focusing on the national parks, protected areas as well as unique wetlands present in the country. An eco-tourism plan of action should be initiated and finalized to include the provision of support infrastructure as well as focused marketing strategy especially to niche customers.
- The private sector should be involved and should take the lead for tourism development through a government regulated system that can ensure ecological preservation. Pakistan Tourism Development Corporation (PTDC) should facilitate by concentrating its activities in the marketing, promotion, and development of tourism.
- Marketing efforts for promoting tourism at cultural as well as religious sites, in particular Sikh and Buddhist²⁴, need to be explored and aggressively pursued. In this regards, the prime cultural and religious spots be declared "National Tourist" spots and given special attention vis-à-vis upkeep and marketing.
- The involvement of Pakistan embassies/missions abroad for tourism promotion to be enhanced.
- The tourism related legislation would be revised to reflect the growing needs of eco-tourism.
- Training in tourism services will be improved in collaboration with international tourism and hotel management institutes to create maximum job opportunities for locals within this industry.
- An emphasis will be placed on provision of physical infrastructure at tourist attractions will be enhanced and complemented with sustainable environmental improvement programs.

1.8. GREEN ECONOMY FUELLED BY GREEN JOBS

²⁴ Out of 10 Gurrus of Sikhs, the holy sites of 5 Gurrus are located in Pakistan. Similarly, the Budhist sites are spread across North Pakistan where pilgrims from China, Japan and South Asia find tremendous attraction.

Context: As the above has shown, Pakistan's economy is beset with a lot of inefficiencies but possesses the potential opportunity to not only reverse them but also do so in a sustainable and cost effective manner. The concept of Green economy, which is still under a defining debate at the global level, can become a reality in Pakistan by tackling the resource inefficiencies within the water, energy and agriculture sectors as well as addressing the damaging trends of unregulated urbanization and rising unemployment. In order to make it politically palatable as well as implicitly sustainable it is essential that the concept get translated into possible green jobs that can be generated through a shift towards an alternate development pathway.

Trends and Issues: In recent years, areas such as clean and efficient technology, renewable energy, chemical and waste management, biodiversity based business, and sustainable cities, buildings, construction, and transport are attracting investments and emerging as the new engines of economic growth. They have also become avenues for creating *green jobs*.

Green jobs are defined as work in agricultural, manufacturing, research and development (R&D), administrative, and service activities that contribute substantially to preserving or restoring environmental quality. Specifically, but not exclusively, this includes jobs that help to protect ecosystems and biodiversity; reduce energy, materials, and water consumption through high efficiency strategies; de-carbonize the economy; and minimize or altogether avoid generation of all forms of waste and pollution.

A UNEP²⁵ report shows that at global level green jobs are now being generated in some sectors and economies and it is estimated that investment in low-greenhouse-gas energy could well reach \$1.9 trillion by 2020. Shifting patterns of investment flows into areas from renewable energy generation to energy efficiency and pollution control projects at the household and industrial level are creating avenues for generation of green jobs. Also, the bulk of documented growth in these jobs has so far occurred mostly in developed countries, along with some rapidly developing countries like Brazil²⁶ and China.

There is a tremendous scope for such initiatives and creation of green jobs in Pakistan but this potential needs to be strategically identified, economically weighed and then politically owned to ensure its sustainability. One area where Pakistan achieved great success in creating green jobs is CNG industry²⁷ which has, unfortunately, been also hit by the growing "gas gap" and associated gas shortages.

- Implement the commitment made in Vision 2030 to make *"employment and employability, a central theme in economic and social policies"* while aiming for sustainable development.
- Promote green investment and green jobs for the purpose as far as possible by carrying out a scoping exercise for jobs in the various green initiatives already elaborated.
- Encourage the political ownership of sustainable development strategies in the country marketing the creation of new jobs through an alternate economy as an incentive.

²⁵ UNEP, 2008, Green Jobs: Towards Decent Work in a Sustainable Low-Carbon World, Nairobi

²⁶ Brazil's bio-fuels sector has been creating nearly a million jobs a year

²⁷ Pakistan has made great strides in CNG retrofitting in just a few years. Today, it is the largest CNG consuming country among Natural Gas Vehicle (NGV) countries. There were only 62 CNG stations in Pakistan with only 60,000 CNG-converted vehicles in 1999, which increased to 2700 CNG stations and 2.0 million CNG vehicles with an investment of Rs. 70 billion according to Pakistan Economic Survey 2009. The industry had already attracted investment of Rs 60 billion creating 60,000 jobs across the county in 2007. However, the low price of CNG has increasingly become unsustainable due to the overall gas shortage.

Chapter 2.

SOCIAL & HUMAN DEVELOPEMNT

While aiming to achieve sustainable development, it is important to understand that it requires deep structural changes and new ways of working in economic, environmental and social arenas. Pakistan is a rich country in terms of both natural and human resources. However, it is unfortunate that the country continues to find itself as a borderline case in terms of human development as well as economic growth indicators. Unemployment remains high while literacy rates continuously demand improvements. Clearly, Pakistan has not fully exploited its human potential and in the context of countries, like Pakistan, sustainable development has to translate into promotion of pro-poor economic growth while reforming fiscal policies that negatively affect the poor or lead to environmental damage.

In addition to improving the overall governance in the country the sustainable development strategy has to address the challenges of delivery of services like health and education to the people and encompass targeted social support policies and programs leading to reducing the inequalities and also leading to improvement in food security, energy security or security against natural and other calamities and emergencies.

The outcome of social policies in Pakistan, over the last few decades, has been quite sketchy as evidenced by widespread poverty and increasing inequality. The inadequacies of the policies in fact have accentuated the 'social vulnerabilities' to a critical level in the country. The high poverty levels have necessitated the introduction of 'social safety' initiatives such as recently announced Benazir Income Support Programme and Bait-ul-maal schemes.

The widening social vulnerabilities are now manifesting themselves through increases in incidence of petty crimes and other more violent crimes and kidnapping as well as leading towards extremism in other cases. All of these, in turn, come with heavy economic costs to the country already struggling with a strained economy and limited fiscal space – thus directly impacting the Government's ability to sustain development. This strongly underscores the need to strengthen the economy including the social pillar of Sustainable Development and revamping social policies to make them more effective.

The social development challenges for Pakistan include achieving high and sustained broad-based economic growth particularly in rural areas; providing essential social services and infrastructure to the poor; creating job opportunities, and improving governance. Thus, not surprisingly, the Government of Pakistan has committed under Vision 2030 that "the State will ensure that the development process provides a more equitable distribution and spread of prosperity across all regions of the country. There will be full access to quality education, health, water and sanitation, shelter, as well as security under law. Effective social protection will be available for the most vulnerable, and poverty will have been largely eliminated".

Within the above context, the NSDS addresses social sector that is the third and extremely relevant pillar for sustainable development in Pakistan by keeping in view the foremost overarching goal of eradicating poverty and promoting sustainable economic development.

2.1. POVERTY ERADICATION

Context: Poverty has many dimensions in Pakistan. The poor have not only low incomes but they_also lack access to basic needs such as education, health, clean drinking water and proper_sanitation²⁸. All of this not only undermines their capabilities but also limits their opportunities to secure_employment and, invariably,

²⁸ PRSP-II, Government of Pakistan

results in their social exclusion and makes them more vulnerable to exogenous shocks such as uncalled natural disasters. The situation is further worsened when the governance structures do not adequately represent and reflect the needs of the weak, vulnerable and poorer sections of society in the decision making process. In Pakistan's scenario there are various bottlenecks to address issues related to poverty eradication and to promote sustainable lifestyles and an integrated approach to tackling them has always remained the focus of all growth or development strategies in the country including the targeted Poverty Reduction Strategies (PRSP-I of 2007 and PRSP-II of 2010) as well as the current Framework for Economic Growth-2011). However, the eradication of poverty remains one of the foremost challenges to sustaining development in the country.

Issues and Trends: According to Vision 2030 of Pakistan, "the number of people around the poverty band or vulnerable and poor constituted nearly 40.5 percent of the total population" while the poverty trend as traced in the PRSP-II (2010) shows that that poverty, measured in terms of the headcount of the poor (the proportion of the population with consumption below the official poverty line), shows a mixed trend throughout the past decade (Figure-8)



Figure 8: Poverty head-count rate in Pakistan

In another report²⁹ it is indicated that the high food prices are undermining poverty reduction gains, as food expenditures comprise a large share of the poor's total expenditures. It states that food price hike has severely eroded poor household purchasing power. The assessment shows that the poorest households need to spend 70 percent or more of their income on food and their ability to meet most essential expenditures for health and education is severely compromised. All of the above are alarming trends that directly challenge sustainable development in Pakistan. It is thus, no surprise that poverty reduction as well as pro-poor growth has to be the linchpin of the country's sustainable development strategy.

- Align closely with the nationally prioritized goals already outlined in the PRSP³⁰-II document (2010).
- Aim to provide an environment that will provide employment to at least one member of every poor family in either the public or private sectors.

²⁹ UN Inter Agency Assessment Mission fielded during June-July 2008

³⁰ Pakistan's Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper

- Periodically enhance the minimum labor wages in line with the rising inflationary pressures in the country.
- Initiate programs for low cost and energy efficient housing in the country.
- Increasing productivity and value addition in agriculture which is one of the largest employment sectors for the poor.
- Focus on human development with the objectives of ensuring employability.
- Make protecting and providing opportunities for the poor and vulnerable in society an overarching priority.

2.2. GENDER EQUALITY AND WOMEN EMPOWERMENT

Context: The strong linkage between women empowerment, gender equity and sustainable development is well established and globally recognized under the Rio Principles as well as Agenda 21³¹.

In Pakistan, women play an important role in all walks of life and the Government fully realized that gender equity remains a fundamental condition for sustainable development. In line with this recognition, a number of policy documents highlight the aspect of gender mainstreaming and equality as a tool for poverty eradication and sustainable development. These include the Pakistan Poverty Reduction strategy papers PRSP (2007 and 2010) and the Medium-term development (MTDF 2005-2010) Framework as well as the Vision 2030 which demands equal rights and respect for women and ensuring their participation in all decision-making processes.

Issues and Trends: There have been some impressive gains in the empowerment of women and mainstreaming gender in recent years for instance reserved representations in federal, provincial and local elected bodies. It is a well-known fact that women play an important role in agricultural production, livestock raising, small cottage industries and feeding their families. Women participate in the whole process related to crop production from sowing, transplanting, harvesting to post-harvest operations such as threshing, drying, grinding of wheat, and storage, and yet they are not provided equal rights to land ownership and development³². Much more, however, still needs to be done.

Although there are laws, which protect the rights of, women but have weak implementation. Such laws include, the National Policy for Development and Empowerment of Women (NPDEW) March 2002, the Muslim Families Law Ordinance (1961) provides contractual protection to women in marriage. The Women's Protection Bill 2006 is another important step in providing them some relief against institutional injustices. One dimension of political empowerment is representation of women in National and Provincial Assemblies, which enshrines the national commitment towards all policy making in the country.

- Increase role of women and integrate gender balance into national sustainable development processes.
- Enforce the protection and implementation of women rights.

³¹ "Women have a vital role in environmental management and development. Their full participation is therefore essential to achieve sustainable development" (Principle 20 of Rio Declaration).

³² http://www.fao.org/sd/WPdirect/WPre0111.htm

- Provide an equitable access to education, health and work resources, especially in rural areas, to ensure genuine empowerment of women especially the youth.
- Introduce program for land allotments to empower women and give them sense of ownership for agriculture production and provide them a right to ensure food security for their families³³.

2.3. FOOD SECURITY

Context: Food security (as also outlined in the Economics section) is the most important and basic need for human as well as for social and economic development of any country. The Vision 2030 carves out the national vision as *"an efficient and competitive sustainable agriculture ensuring food security and with ability to contribute to economic development and poverty alleviation in Pakistan".*

For Pakistan achieving food security remains a pressing challenge despite the progress in agriculture output. There is continuous rise in food prices leading to non-availability of basic food supplements due to its affordability and access. In addition, natural disasters and war in Afghanistan has also worsened the existing food crises in the country by putting additional drains on the produce.

Issues and Trends: According to the estimates, nearly half the population still suffers from varying degrees of outright malnutrition, as well as mild and moderate under-nutrition, with the most vulnerable being children, women and the elderly, especially among the lower 30 per cent income group. Based on the pattern of existing food production and availability, and desirable change to the National Food Basket, on the pattern recommended by FAO. However, the GoP intends to further implement the following strategy to achieve long-term food security in the country.

Items	Year/ units	1949-50	1979-80	1989-90	1999-00	2007-08	2008-09	2009-10 (E)	2010-11 (T)
Cereals	Kg	139.3	147.1	160.7	165.0	158.1	160.3	158.8	158.7
Pulses	Kg	13.9	6.3	5.4	7.2	7.2	5.8	6,8	6.7
Sugar	Kg	17.1	28.7	27.0	26.4	30.0	25.6	26.1	26.5
Milk	Ltr	107.0	94.8	107.6	148.8	165.4	167.2	169.1	169.8
Meat	Kg	9.8	13.7	17.3	18.8	20.0	20.0	20.5	20.9
Eggs	Dozen	0.2	1.2	2.1	5.1	5.5	5.6	5.8	6.0
Edible Oil	Ltr	2.3	6.3	10.3	11.1	12.8	12.5	12.6	12.6
Calories pe	r day	2078	2301	2324	2416	2410	2425	2415	2420
Protein per	day	62.8	61.5	67.4	67.5	72.0	72.5	71.5	72.0

Figure 9: Food Availability per capita in Pakistan³⁴

- Ensure food security, adequate nutrition and dietary improvement for the poor especially the most vulnerable including women, children and elderly as an overall strategy to achieve food security for all and overcome malnutrition.
- Provide access and equitable distribution of food products to all the provinces with controlled and strictly monitored price list.
- Promote development of high-value activities such as livestock, dairy farming, fisheries and horticulture that provide food security and poverty reduction.

³³ http://www.shirkatgah.org/green-economics.html

³⁴ Source: Pakistan Economic Survey 2010-11

- Improve productivity of crops through development of environmentally friendly high yielding varieties as well as enhancing the efficiency of water use in agriculture.
- Ensure availability and access for agricultural credit especially for the small farmers.

2.4. HEALTH AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Context: The strong linkage between ensuring the health of the population and sustainable development is globally acknowledged and extremely relevant in Pakistan's context. The Johannesburg Plan of Implementation (WSSD) strongly affirmed "*The goals of sustainable development can only be achieved in the absence of a high prevalence of debilitating diseases, while obtaining health gains for the whole population requires poverty eradication*".

The Government's commitment to provide appropriate health facilities to its people and address poverty reduction is reflected in the National Health Policy, 2001 (GoP, 2001a) which sees health reform as means of reducing poverty. Moreover in the Vision, 2030, health sector is considered a lever for heightened productivity, an entry point for economic and social progress, and a doorway to development (Planning Commission, 2007).

The Health Policy 2001 identified ten specific areas for reform ranging from control of communicable diseases, especially T.B, Polio, Malaria, HIV/AIDS and the expanded program of immunization (EPI) cluster, and addressing inadequacies in primary and secondary health services, to improvements in district health system, including removal of professional and managerial gaps and distortions. These elements will continue to be important in the context of a paradigmatic shift from healthcare reform to the wider health sector linkage with social development. It is now widely recognized that without a strong nexus with social determinants of health and inter-sectoral bridges, it is difficult to overcome poverty.

Issues and Trends: Vision 2030 espouses a healthy and productive population that actively contributes to the overall socio-economic development of the country. Within this vision, the health benefits are shared equitably with all without any discrimination on account of income, gender, age, residence or social stratification. It is to be achieved through a holistic approach that targets the major burden of disease through tackling the key social, economic and environmental determinants of health, and putting in place a well functioning health system.

Moreover, in the context of MDG's which give a high priority to health indicators, an aggressive, dynamic and well coordinated campaign of immunization of infants and children under 5 and increasing the outreach of Lady Health Workers in recent years has led to visible positive results in reducing infant and child mortality and raised the hope that MDG health targets for 2015 may well be within reach.

Strategy:

The Government needs to work towards the following objectives:

- Guarantee affordable healthcare and the access to a doctor for every citizen of Pakistan via a National Health Service that could also include a program for nationwide health insurance scheme.
- Take immediate preventive measures to prevent spread of diseases and epidemics especially the rising incidence of climate-triggered epidemics.
- Provide affordable and free medications to sick and needy through measures such as encouraging local pharmaceutical companies to produce more generic drugs.

- Ensure provision of good medical education and training that is properly regulated for ensuring quality output.
- Ensure proper hygiene and sanitation facilities and disposal of hazardous wastes in all hospitals and ensure strict implementation of all the policies and strategies.
- Introduce additional training programs in health care units across the country for sanitary and paramedical staff in safe and environmentally sound handling, segregation, transportation and storage of hazardous chemicals, contaminated equipment and waste generated from the hospitals.

2.5. EDUCATION FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Context: The concept of Education for Sustainable development was first highlighted at the Earth Summit in 1992, Agenda 21 and later followed up at the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) in 2002 and then through declaring 2005-2015 as the "United Nations Decade of Education for Sustainable Development"³⁵. Education, undoubtedly, plays a pivotal role in the overall socio-economic development of the country and the Constitution of Pakistan, under Article 25-A, aptly terms it as a fundamental right of the citizens of the country.

However, it still remains an unmet concept in Pakistan where in spite of having approximately 10 National Education Policies in the past, there has been weak implementation and poor management in the Education sector³⁶.

Subsequently, Pakistan ranks 118 out of 129 countries on the Education for All (EFA) Development Index. According to the estimates done by UNESCO, there are 30 percent of Pakistani's who live in extreme education poverty; where as 20 percent of Pakistani's receive almost 7 years of more education than the poorest. Another issue is the parallel education systems in the country which include English, Urdu medium as well as strictly religious education. These need to be streamlined and made coherent.

In order to reap the "demographic dividend", as earlier outlined, the key tool is that of education and skill development which can ensure productive enabling of the large youth of the country and avoid a "demographic liability". Pakistan needs to create a critical mass of manpower with appropriate scientific and technological skills to increase the productivity of its large population base and also improve their standards of living

In the absence of any such planning backed by investment and implementation in Pakistan, large numbers of uneducated, unskilled and unprepared population could well lead to a humanitarian and social disaster (Planning Commission, 2007). It is, thus, no surprise that "education for opportunity" is one of the major themes of the Framework for Economic Growth (2011). The snapshot of Education survey below will give a vague idea of overall concerns related education sector in Pakistan.

 $^{^{\}rm 35}$ United Nations General Assembly adopted the resolution GA/RES/57/254 in 2002

³⁶ "Pakistan: Framework for Economic Growth" (2011),pp.35

Figure 10: Education Survey Snapshot³⁷

Box: Main findings of ASER 2010 (Rural)

- 80 percent of children in the age group 6 to 16 years in rural Pakistan were enrolled in schools in 2010. Of the children in the primary age group 6 to 10 years 84 percent were enrolled.
- Pre-school enrollment in 2010 was 45 percent, which is quite close to the overall EFA/National Plan of Action (NPA) target of 50 percent enrolment in pre-school by 2015.
- There was decreasing trend for enrollment from class 1 to class 10. The class wise enrollment for class 3 was 14 percent, 9 percent for class 6 and 3 percent for class 10.
- Mother's literacy stood at 32 percent. Lowest being 17 percent in Balochistan and highest being 55 percent in Gilgit-Baltistan.
- The overall percentage of rural children in class 5 reading a class 2 text in Urdu/Sindhi was 52 percent while for the English text it was 42 percent. This meant that more than half of all rural children in class 5 in Pakistan were at least three grade levels behind.
- For arithmetic level up to class 3, only 34 percent children in class 5, were able to do division problems. Thus
 more than 65 percent of the children in class 5 were at least two grades levels behind.
- Out of every 4 children in the private schools, at least 1 child took paid tuition, whereas out of every 10 children
 in the Government school, at least 1 child took paid tuition
- 43 percent of the Government primary schools did not have safe drinking water and 55 percent did not have proper washroom facilities.
- Overall children's attendance on the day of visit as per headcount in government schools stood at 82 percent and 89 percent for private schools. Sindh, had 65 percent attendance whilst Khyber Pakhtunkwa had 88 percent children's attendance.
- Teachers' attendance on the day of the visit at the national level was 87 percent in Govt. Schools and 90 percent
 in private schools.

Source: ASER-Pakistan 2010 http://safedafed. Org/aser/document/aser/2011/

Issues and Trends: According to the Pakistan Economic Survey 2009-10 the overall literacy rate (age 10 years and above) is 57.7 percent compared to 57.4 percent for 2008-09. The data also reveals that literacy has got disparities across the rural-urban as well as gender divide.

Desistanti da sera	£	2008-09			2009-10	10.5
Province/Area	Total	Male	Female	Total	Maie	Female
Urban	63.4	77.4	49.0	62.7	77.8	47.4
Balochistan	51.5	68.5	30.2	51.5	69.2	29.3
Rural	46.5	64.4	23.8	45.7	64.2	22.5
Urban	66.4	81.0	48.8	69.6	85.0	50.6

Economic Survey 2010-11

Source: Pakistan Labour Force Survey 2009-10

Source Pakistan Economic Survey 2010-11

Pakistan is committed to achieve Millennium Development Goals including elimination of disparity at all levels of education by the year 2015. However, massive financial support is required to build educational and other infrastructure and trained staff to achieve these Goals (GoP, 2009), and to address the concerns as reflected in Figure-10. Diverse programs and strategies, ranging from compensatory programs such as stipends at primary, middle and secondary levels, free text books and nutritional support to school girls are also required for enhancing the educational status of women.

³⁷ Pakistan Economic Survey 2010-11

Increasing access and improving the quality of education (particularly in public schools, where the quality of education is much lower than private schools) are important along with enhancement in the efficiency of educational Governance. These issues are discussed at length in various earlier policy documents including the Education Sector Reforms (ESR) Action Plan 2001-2005 (GoP, 2001), embedded in PRSP and an Education for All (EFA) Plan of Action (2001-2015).

Strategy:

- The allocation of funds for education in the Annual provincial budgets be linked with the national GDP and, at least, 7% of GDP may be spent on education.
- Primary and secondary education may be declared compulsory for all school going children and the Government should extend free education at these base formation levels.
- Remove the anomalies of the parallel tracks of education by making a uniform education policy, curriculum and system in the country.
- Re-evaluation of education policies with the overall objective of integrating the "Education for Sustainable Development" concept in the curriculum and aiming for education for all in the country.
- Public private partnerships should be encouraged to promote quality and affordable education.
- Strive to remodel the lifestyle and behavior of citizens through awareness raising and functional education using all communication means as well as the print and electronic media. In particular, inculcate civic awareness and responsibilities amongst school children from a young age.
- Strengthen mechanisms of modern communication, information and extension networks and utilize them effectively for the promotion of education for all.

2.6. WATER SUPPLY AND SANITATION

Context: Water and Sanitation issue was put high on international agenda after declaring 2008 as an International Year of Sanitation. In 2010, General Assembly adopted a resolution calling for the "Sustainable Sanitation: The Five-Year-Drive to 2015". The goal is to raise awareness on issues related to sanitation especially calling to end open defecation, the most dangerous sanitation practice for public health. It also highlights all aspects of sanitation, including hygiene promotion, provision of basic sanitation services, sewerage, and wastewater treatment and reuse³⁸.

The Government of Pakistan recognizes the importance of providing access to adequate water and sanitation facilities in order to prevent the spread of diseases and epidemics and save both lives and costs. To address the issue the GoP has formulated several policies that addresses the key concerns related to water and sanitation, as well as safe drinking water "National Drinking Water Policy" (2009), "National Sanitation Policy" (2006), "Clean Drinking Water Initiative (2004) and introduced a "Strategy for Rehabilitation and Reconstruction of Water Supply and Sanitation Sector" after the 2005 earthquake.

Issues and Trends: Based on the estimates of the National Sanitation Policy 2006, proper sanitation facilities are available to only 42 percent of the total population, with significant gaps between rural and urban areas (65% in urban areas and 30 % in rural areas). With the exception of a few big cities sewerage is almost non-

³⁸ UN Resolution "Sustainable Sanitation: The Five-Year-Drive to 2015", A/Res/65/153

existent causing serious public health problems. Nearly 45 percent of all households do not have access to latrines; 51 percent of households are not connected to any form of drainage; 35 percent to open drains and 16 percent to underground sewage or open drains³⁹. Achieving MDG target for access to safe drinking water crucially hinges on the successful implementation of above mentioned policies and strategies.

Strategy:

- Increase public awareness about water safety, safe hygiene practice and water conservation⁴⁰.
- Ensure implementation of policies and strategies related to water and sanitation at all levels.
- Enhance Public awareness campaigns through social media related to water and sanitation issues.

2.7. SOCIAL PROTECTION

Context: Social Protection was initiated in Pakistan in 1970's when the very first Employee Social Security Scheme was introduced to provide medical services and cash allowances to public sector employees and their dependants. Social protection mechanisms are classified into two main categories: (i) Informal Social Protection (ISP) and (ii) Formal Social Protection (FSP). ISP is provided to individuals or groups by themselves, family, relatives, neighbors, non-governmental organizations, philanthropic and community based groups. On the other hand, FSP is provided by government to the poor and vulnerable segments of the society.

Formal social protection mechanisms involve public programs designed to support the poor and vulnerable segments of the population against shocks. These shocks may be natural (earthquake, floods etc), social (death in a family, injury, health problem), or economic (crop failure, unemployment, high inflation). There are four major forms of FSP: a) social safety nets; b) social security; c) human development and child protection; and, d) microfinance.

It is important, within this context, to accord special status and opportunity to the weak and vulnerable including the disabled as well as children needing special attention. There is still a very wide gap, which is required to be filled through short and medium term planning and implementation of national policy for persons with disabilities for timely diagnosis, assessment, and treatment, as well as provision of special education and vocational training for their ultimate rehabilitation.

Issues and Trends: Social safety nets are non-contributory transfer programs seeking to prevent the poor or those vulnerable to shocks and poverty from falling beyond a certain poverty level. Safety net programs can be provided by the public sector (the State and aid donors) or by the private sector (NGOs, private firms, charities, and informal household transfers). The Social safety nets for the vulnerable currently available in Pakistan include Workers Welfare Fund (WWF), Food Support Program, Pakistan Bait-ul-Mal (PBM), Zakat Fund (Details on individual programs are available in Pakistan Economic Surveys in the chapter on Poverty) and Benazir Income Support Program (See Box). Under these programs safety net transfers include cash transfers; Foodbased programs; in-kind transfers such as school supplies; Conditional cash transfers; Price subsidies for food or electricity; Fee waivers and insurance for health care.

³⁹ <u>http://www.environment.gov.pk/NEP/SanitationPolicy.pdf</u>

⁴⁰ "National Drinking Water Policy", 2009, Ministry of Environment

Table 1: Pakistan: Social F	Protection and Poverty	Related Expenditure	(Billion Rupees), 2003-2009
-----------------------------	------------------------	---------------------	-----------------------------

Area/Sectors	2003/04 Actual	2004/05 Actual	2005/06 Actual	2006/07 Actual	2007/08 Actual	2008/09* Projected
Market Access and Community Services	28.5	41.7	63.6	76.6	104.6	55.8
Roads, Highways and Bridges	22.7	35.1	53.2	60.0	84.8	46.7
Water Supply & Sanitation	5.8	6.5	10.3	16.6	19.8	9.1
Human Development	129.3	152.9	191.1	222.2	257.1	243.6
Education	97.7	116.9	141.7	162.1	182.6	195.6
Health	27.0	31.4	39.2	53.2	61.1	43.9
Population Planning	4.7	4.6	10.2	7.0	13.3	4.1
Rural Development	44.6	59.7	78.5	101.8	112.7	117.6
Agriculture	22.5	37.9	59.8	74.8	83.5	91.2
Land reclamation	2.0	2.1	2.7	2.3	3.1	2.6
Rural development	18.6	15.4	15.0	22.2	23.3	9.6
People Works Programme-II	1.4	4.4	1.0	2.5	2.7	14.2
Safety Nets	17.0	11.4	36.1	18.8	87.9	290.5
Subsidies	8.5	5.4	6.0	5.5	54.9	231.1
Social security & welfare	4.1	2.0	7.6	4.4	18.9	37.0
Food Support Programme	2.8	2.7	3.1	3.5	4.4	15.3
People Works Programme-I	0.6	0.08	0	0.02	1.4	2.6
Natural Calamities & Disasters	0.5	0.9	19.1	5.0	7.7	3.2
Low Cost Housing	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.6	1.3
Governance	41.8	50.5	6.8	7.2	10.2	52.5
Law & Order	39.4	47.4	1.1	2.1	2.4	46.6
Justice Administration	2.4	3.1	5.6	5.1	7.8	5.9
Total	261.3	316.2	376.1	426.7	572.6	760.0
As % of GDP	4.63	4.81	4.93	4.89	5.46	5.86
Source: PRSP Secretariat, Finance Division						
* Actual Expanditure suring this position		illion				
Actual experior unity curing this period was	ns. 977.23 D					

The programs on social protection were, however, unable to produce desired impact of poverty alleviation due to problems in their implementation⁴¹. Further, many eligible families failed to get coverage. Thus according to an estimate quoted in the report 7 million households are eligible for Zakat but the coverage is only one tenth of the needy population.

⁴¹ According to The State of Pakistan's Economy, Third Quarterly Report for Fiscal 2008

Box Benazir Income Support Program as a Social Safety Net

The sharp rise in international oil and food prices and the global financial crisis not only adversely impacted the macroeconomic indicators in Pakistan but also imposed social costs. Recognizing the urgent need to protect the poor and the vulnerable, the Government of Pakistan (GoP) launched the *Benazir Income Support Program (BISP)* in 2008 as its main social safety net program. This program would serve as a platform to provide cash transfers to the vulnerable identified on the basis of poverty scorecard and would be backed by an exit strategy. This strategy includes imparting training to one member of each vulnerable family to sustain itself. The Program also envisages a workfare initiative through social mobilization. BISP intends to cover 3.4 million families or 22.75 million people in the current year. In the next two years, the government intends to at least double the allocation for BISP to cover 7 million families.

The government is cognizant of the fact that effective targeting, implementation, and monitoring of the BISP require a well thought out design as well as placement of appropriate institutional arrangements for various processes. As a first step, a policy decision has been taken to improve the targeting system by using the poverty scorecard approach and a test phase is being implemented in 16 districts. In addition, the government is also keen to enhance the governance and social accountability of the program. These efforts include separation of identification, administration, and payment functions, piloting the payment through paperless smart card technology, process evaluation and spot checks, and fiduciary controls. The experience gained through the pilot phase coupled with a careful evaluation of the data collection performance will help in developing the plan for nationwide rollout to be completed within 2009.

BISP will also serve as a platform for complementary programs the main being **health insurance for the poor and the vulnerable**. This program will cover the entire family including household head and spouse, children up to 18 years, dependent parents, and unmarried daughters, 18 and above. The policy benefit will cover full hospitalization, pregnancy, daycare treatment and diagnostic tests up to a maximum limit of Rs.25000 per person per year. This insurance policy will also provide accident compensation for earning members of the family. The premium for this health insurance policy will cost Rs.800 per family per year and is proposed to be picked up by the government as a part of the BISP benefits.

The evaluation strategy of BISP aims to examine the impacts of the cash transfers on the socioeconomic conditions of the beneficiary families, such as food and non-food consumption, and potentially on a number of human development indicators such as school enrollment and attendance, health outcomes, and child labour. Given that the cash transfer is provided to the female head of the beneficiary families, the evaluation also aims to assess the impact of BISP on the perceived and actual social status of women. The cash transfer program of BISP serves as the first step of a more systematic, coherent and effective safety net program. In the short to medium term, the BISP shall serve as a platform for various social assistance programs - transition to a Conditional Cash Transfer (CCT) program, complementary poverty exit programs, health insurance programs, and workfare programs.

b. <u>Protection from Natural Calamities:</u> As already highlighted in the Climate Change chapter, over the past decade Pakistan has been in the grip of extreme natural events as well as climate triggered calamities such as avalanches, cyclones/storms, droughts, earthquakes, epidemics, floods, glacial lake outbursts, landslides, pest attacks, river erosion, landslides, and tsunamis. Also, this is not a one off phenomena but a trend which is predicted to increase in both frequency and intensity in the future owing to the effects of climate change. It has, thus, become imperative to deal with these present and future natural disasters and adapt and equip the population to be prepared to face up to this inevitable challenge.

Moreover, manmade calamities such as war in Afghanistan and internal law and order situation and ensuing conflicts in Swat, Bajaur and FATA have also unleashed million of refugees and internally displaced persons enhancing seriously social vulnerabilities creating a major burden on the social protection funds.

- Adopt a two pronged approach for social protection with short term measures like targeted transfers supported by proper identification of poor and vulnerable, transparent delivery system, an efficient allocation of resources and ensured access to the poor. In the medium to long run, initiate sustainable pro-poor employment creating projects in collaboration with donor agencies.
- Work towards eliminating absolute poverty, reduce inequalities through provision of equal opportunities and ensure social protection for the weak and the vulnerable.

Chapter 3.

ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

3.1. ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Like most other developing countries, Pakistan faces serious environmental problems, most of which can be attribute to accelerating economic and demographic growth that have put acute pressure on the country's natural resource base. The combination of low aggregate income, widespread poverty, and inadequate provision of basic human needs has created pressure for rapid socioeconomic development. This together with the high rate of population growth continues to place already scarce natural resources, especially land and water, under extreme stress and has significantly increased levels of local pollution. Thus, natural resource degradation and pollution, especially in urban areas, are the core environmental challenges facing the country.

Given such internal pressures, it is not possible to place a higher priority, within the Government's development agenda, on any objectives other than poverty eradication, human resource development, and general economic growth as already outlined in the Economics and Social chapters. Within this priority framework, the agriculture and industrial sectors form the backbone of the country's development strategy with a gradual switch occurring from the former toward the latter.

Unfortunately, both sectors are plagued by unchecked and unabated development that has impinged upon the country's limited resource base and considerably raised pollution levels. For instance, industrial pollution combined with pollution from urban activities creates an immediate threat to health and human welfare. Unless the management of natural resources can be improved and pollution levels reduced, they could easily jeopardize continuous economic growth. Any environmental focus or strategy needs to be grounded in this reality and adequately correspond to and incorporate these needs.

To meet the associated challenges of efficient management and utilization of natural resources, combat forestry and land degradation and control environmental pollution growth, the country needs to integrate environmental concerns into the mainstream development process. This would assist in identifying and capitalizing upon the positive linkages between economic growth and environmental protection, and shift the country's development onto a sustainable trajectory. Only this can address issues such as the unsustainable patterns of consumption and production, resource exploitation and mismanagement, lack of waste management treatment and disposal, unsustainable forest and land management, mismanagement of scarce water and energy resources, air and water pollution, and industrial and hospital waste.

In addition the rise in frequency and intensity of climate triggered natural disasters have added to the burden of managing environmental sustainability. The Government of Pakistan has, however remained cognizant of the challenges and has taken policy and institutional initiatives towards trying to effectively manage these issues. In that respect a number of measures have been undertaken, such as developing a comprehensive legislation on environment replacing Environmental Protection Ordinance⁴², 1983 with the Pakistan Environmental Protection Act⁴³, 1997 and approving the National Environmental Quality Standards [NEQS] in 1993 for liquid, solids, and gaseous emissions which were reviewed and revised in late 1990s in consultation with the industry, environmental experts and other stakeholders to facilitate the implementation of these standards in Pakistan effectively. Some other major achievements and initiatives of

⁴² Ordinance is a law enacted by President of Pakistan.

⁴³ Act is a law passed by the parliament.

the Government included the development of policies and strategies like National Environmental Policy (GoP, 2005a), National Sanitation Policy (GoP, 2006a), Clean Development Mechanism Strategy (GoP 2006b), Draft National Forest Policy (GoP, 2002), National Action Program to Combat Desertification (NAP, 2000), Biodiversity Action Plan for Pakistan (GoP, 2000) and National Energy Conservation Policy (2005b) etc.

Despite these initiatives, limited successes were achieved for two reasons. Firstly because these polices, strategies and initiatives could not be integrated into overall development policies of the country, where environment is still considered as a sector rather than a cross cutting issue. Secondly, Government efforts alone, because of limited resources at its disposal are not enough and demand a much larger participation and support from other stakeholders including industry, private sector, civil society, and public at large as well as donors. The country thus continued to experience environmental degradation at a great loss during the last two decades. The World Bank (2006) Country Strategic Environmental Report, monetizing these losses, states, "The mean estimated cost of environmental and natural resources damage is about 365 billion rupees per year in Pakistan or 6 per cent of GDP" (table 2). This comes to loss of a billion rupees a day. Moreover, this environmental degradation and the adverse economic and human impacts, in general, affect the poor disproportionately as they have weaker capacity to insulate themselves.

Type of Environmental Damages	Annual Cost in Pak Rupees
Inadequate Water Supply, Sanitation & Hygiene	112 Billion
Agricultural Soil Degradation	70 Billion
Indoor Pollution	67 Billion
Urban Air Pollution	65 Billion
Cost of Lead Exposure	45 Billion
Rangeland Degradation & Deforestation	6 Billion
Total	365 Billion

Table 2: Cost of Environmental Degradation in Pakistan

Source: World Bank (2006) Pakistan Strategic Country Environmental Assessment Report

Overall Environmental Governance:

Along with targeted sectoral interventions, outlined ahead, concise strategic steps need to be taken to improve the overall governance, especially environmental governance in the country and, in this regard, the following steps are important:

- Improve environmental governance at all levels and enhance community-level environmental management by strengthening the capacity of union councils, tehsil municipal administration and district governments (local level).
- An effective system to internalize the environmental costs in mainstream decision making and the
 planning system in Pakistan needs to be encouraged through tools such as strategic environmental
 assessments (SEA) and undertaking the cost-benefit analysis of all development projects. Process should
 ultimately leading towards presenting of a "green budget" to include the true costs to the environment
 in all budgetary decisions.

- The recent enactment of "Green Benches"⁴⁴ at all courts in Pakistan need to be facilitated and optimally utilized through institutionalized knowledge and legal support system for which a focused implementation plan will be developed.
- The advice⁴⁵ of including the "environmental rights" into the Constitution of Pakistan needs to be taken up by the elected bodies in the Senate and National Assembly of Pakistan and steps will be undertaken to facilitate that.

Pakistan's environmental priorities encompass pollution issues, including air and water pollution, as well as issues of natural resource degradation, including deforestation, land degradation as well as institutional and governance weaknesses which hamper environmental sustainability. The sector challenges are outlined below:

3.2. AIR QUALITY AND POLLUTION

Context: Air Pollution, especially from suspended particulates, has shown an alarming rise in most urban and industrial areas owing to rising and weakly regulated vehicle and industrial emissions. This air pollution primarily affects urban areas where the high density of industrial and vehicular emissions is aggravated by low air dispersion. From the scant data that are available, a rapid decline in air quality is evident in the rising incidence of associated health problems.

Issues and Trends:

<u>Urban Air Pollution</u>: Data on urban air quality in Pakistan is scarce but, nevertheless, alarming and with rising economic consequences. The limited information available indicates that concentrations of particulate matter in most cities are already above acceptable levels for human health.

Vehicle emissions represent the greatest source of air pollution in the country reflecting the rapid and unregulated growth of vehicle use in Pakistan. Subsequently, motor vehicle emissions account for about 90 percent of total emissions of hydrocarbons (smog), aldehydes, and carbon monoxide, all of which have dangerous health implications, especially in densely populated urban centers⁴⁶. Meanwhile, an older survey found that only 3 percent of industrial plants treated their waste and emissions according to commonly accepted international standards⁴⁷.

The absence of systematic air quality monitoring and poor enforcement of National Environmental Quality Standards (NEQS) has resulted in an onerous situation. Results from some monitoring surveys conducted in Karachi, Lahore, Peshawar, Quetta, Rawalpindi and Islamabad by SUPARCO. In this study, the highest levels of fine PM were recorded in Lahore and Quetta, but the levels recorded in all the cities exceed internationally accepted standards, with significant consequences for the health of their citizens.

Urban air particulate pollution is estimated to cause around 22,700 premature deaths annually, with the total health costs associated with the deaths and sickness caused by such pollution amounting to between Rs. 62-65 billion, approximately 1 percent of GDP (World Bank, 2006).

Indoor Air Pollution: Indoor air pollution in Pakistan is also very high and poses a serious problem. The use of biomass fuels such as wood, dung and crop residues is quite common in the country. Majority of rural

⁴⁴ The "Bhurban Declaration" adopted on March 25th 2012 at the South Asian Judiciaries conference

⁴⁵ Speech of Chief Justice of Pakistan at the South Asian Judiciaries conference in Bhurban, March 2012

⁴⁶ World Bank. 1996. Pakistan: Economic Policies, Institutions, and the Environment. South Asian Region Report, World Bank.

⁴⁷ Brandon, C. 1995. Valuing Environmental Costs in Pakistan. The Economy-Wide Impact of

Environmental Degradation. Washington, DC: World Bank, Asia Technical Department.

households (86 percent) and a large proportion of urban households (32 percent) rely on these as their primary cooking fuel (GoP, 1998), Population Census of Pakistan). Biomass burnt in poorly ventilated homes has severe health consequences, particularly for women, young children and the elderly who are most likely to be exposed to indoor pollutants.

The estimated annual health impacts of indoor air pollution, according to the World Bank (2006) accounts for over 28,000 deaths a year and 40 million cases of acute respiratory illness. Total annual cost of indoor air pollution is estimated at Rs 55-70 billion, with a mean estimate of Rs 62 billion or approximately 1 percent of GDP (World Bank, 2006).

Strategy:

- Implement the National Clean Air Act and ensure effective enforcement of the National Environmental Quality Standards on air pollution.
- Establish standards for vehicles at the manufacturing stage and promotion of cleaner production technologies.
- Introduce more greener fuel options, and making them affordable for public. The Government is already on this path, but it needs to further this policy initiative with the active involvement of the private sector.
- Facilitate cost effective inter-city mass transit systems in major cities through Public Private Partnerships.
- Introduce clean cook-stoves and solar lanterns, especially in rural areas not only to prevent indoor airpollution but also to save lives, improve health, living conditions and empower women⁴⁸.

Health end-points	Attributed Total Cases	Total Annual Costs
Premature mortality adults	21,791	58-61
Mortality children under 5	658	0.83
Chronic bronchitis	7,825	0.06
Hospital admissions	81,312	0.28
Emergency room visits/Outpatient hospital	1,595,080	0.80
visits		
Restricted activity days	81,541,893	2.06
Lower respiratory illness in children	4,924,148	0.84
Respiratory symptoms	706,808,732	0.00
Total		62-65

Table 3: Annual Cost of Urban Air Pollution Health Impacts⁴⁹ (Billion Rs.)

3.3. Water Pollution and quality deterioration

Context: Pakistan faces serious deterioration of surface and ground water quality because of unabated industrial, municipal, and agricultural pollution and lack of universal sanitation. In the absence of a regular surveillance or monitoring program and weak regulatory enforcement, several drains, irrigation canals, and rivers have become severely polluted. The indiscriminate discharge of untreated industrial wastewater,

⁴⁸ <u>http://cleancookstoves.org/</u> (funding support could be taken from "Global Alliance for Clean cook-stoves"

⁴⁹ Source: World Bank (2006)

municipal sewage, as well as unchecked agricultural runoff is increasingly polluting irrigation systems, streams, rivers as well as other aquatic and marine ecosystems. Subsequently this is leading to severe contamination of groundwater (including drinking water), pollution of surface water in major rivers and seawater and harm to aquatic life.

Issues and Trends: The associated adverse health and productivity impacts are significant, with the poor bearing the brunt. Polluted drinking water is the cause of a rising incidence of water-borne diseases such as diarrhea, dysentery, cholera, pneumonia, and hepatitis. As estimated health costs of polluted water in the country run into Rs 112 billion annually. According to other studies, water-related infectious and parasitic diseases account for almost 40 percent of all patients and 60 percent of infant mortality⁵⁰.

This situation is worsened by the fact that the poor, who are the most economically disadvantaged, are made even more so by their high vulnerability to these health problems. This is because of their greater exposure to the sources of polluted water, augmented by low nutritional intake, unhygienic and crowded living conditions in urban areas, and lack of access to good and timely medical facilities. The positive nexus that exists between water-related illness and income, thus, further worsens the situation in a poverty-stricken country like Pakistan, making this one of the most pressing environmental issues for the country.

One of the offshoots of the water pollution issue is the sea water intrusion occurring in the southern part of the country due to low river water flows in some months which affects the natural mangrove plantations as well as fisheries in the delta region.

Strategy:

- Provision of clean drinking water to all within next 5 years through installation of locally suited water filtration plants to be managed through community participation.
- Facility of filtered potable water should be ensured in every educational institution of the country.
- Improvements of old sewerage systems in large cities and installation of new sewerage systems where not present on an urgent basis.
- Environmental regulations to curtail pollution must be strictly enforced through effective monitoring and incentivisation.
- Installation of Combined Effluent Treatment plants at all large industrial estates to ensure treatment of polluted effluents into water bodies.
- Periodic scientific monitoring of water aquifers and drinking water bodies in all cities.
- Ensure minimum water discharge needs for river Indus, as per agreed Water Accords, to address issues relating to sea water intrusion as well as mangrove deterioration.

3.4. SOLID AND HAZARDOUS WASTE MANAGEMENT

Context: Solid and Hazardous waste is causing a great damage to Pakistan's fragile eco-system, due to lack of management and disposal methods. There are six types of hazardous solid waste that have been identified in the Guideline for Solid Waste management report: agricultural pollutants, hospital and laboratories, small-scale industries, large scale industries, commerce and household⁵¹ (table-4). Plastic bags

⁵⁰ World Bank, 1996.

⁵¹ Draft Guideline for Solid Waste Management Report, June 2005

are another spreading menace in the country.

Issues and Trends: The daily production of solid waste in the country is about 48,000 tons of which about 20,000 tons originate in urban areas⁵². Due to lack of resources and weak planning at the implementation level of local bodies, only about 60 percent of urban solid waste can be transported to final disposal sites, which generally are open dumping systems. In the absence of any operational sanitary landfill system in the country, the rest of the waste blocks the sewer system or spreads all over the cities.

The main issue associated with solid waste is the absence of an integrated solid waste management program at national, provincial and local levels and the present management system's inability to cope at the various stages of waste handling, transport, and disposal. Future estimates of solid waste production indicate that the situation could worsen unless a concerted effort is made to improve the collection and disposal system. **Table 4: Sources of Hazardous Waste**⁵³

Sectors	Sources	Types of wastes
Agriculture	Planting areas and paint protection/agriculture department, warehouse	Obsolete pesticides, herbicides, insecticides, used chemicals contaminated soils.
Hospitals, Clinical and Laboratories	Clinic consulting rooms, operation theaters, hospitals, wards, laboratories	Infected human tissues and organs, excreta, blood, sharp instruments, laboratory equipment and tissue cultures drugs etc.
Small Scale Industries	Metal processing ,photo finishing ,textile processing, printing, leather tanning	Acids, heavy metals solvents, acids, silver cadmium, minerals acid solvents, inks, dyes solvents, chromium etc.
Large Scale Industries	Bauxite processing, oil refining petrochemical manufacture, pharmaceutical manufacture, chlorine production	Rig mud, spent catalysts, oily waste, tarry residues, solvents, mercury.
Commerce	Vehicles services and airports, dry cleaning, electrical transformers, bus stations, workshops, petrol pumps	Oily, hydraulic fluids, halogenated solvents, polychlorinated biphenyls(PCBs), water management, specialist tires , plastic etc.
Household	Homes	Used fluorescent tubes, batteries, drugs, cosmetics, and vehicles care materials.

Also, there is a growing concern about rising quantities of e-waste⁵⁴ (electronic waste e.g. used computers, cell phones, wires, television etc.) in Pakistan. There is, however, no current estimation of the amounts of e-waste entering the country from various developed countries as this is not an issue which has, yet, been addressed at the national level and neither is any one body made responsible for its control. There is lack of local awareness about the issue and scant knowledge about e-waste and its harmful affects on health due to lack of technical expertise in this area.

- Develop an integrated solid waste management program to empower local bodies with human and technical capacity to handle the collection, transport and disposal of solid waste.
- The production and use of polythene (plastic) bags should be strictly prohibited and steps should be taken to research and employ biodegradable alternatives.
- Employ public-private partnerships for waste management especially for concentrated urban populations.

⁵² Aslam, Malik Amin (2001), "Country Environment Policy Integration Study", ADB document, Manila, Philippines

⁵³ "Guideline for Solid Waste Management", June 2005, GoP

⁵⁴ <u>http://www.greenprophet.com/2011/10/pakistan-e-waste-goldmine/</u>

- Strengthen the self-monitoring and reporting (SMART) program, to assist the industry to structure and implement their environmental improvement plan. Its implementation to be made mandatory in the industrial zones as well has hospitals.
- Introduce additional training programs in hospitals across the country for safe and environmentally • sound handling, transportation and storage of hazardous chemicals, contaminated equipment and waste generated from the hospitals.
- Promote the concept of shared hospital waste incineration in big cities.
- Address the issue of e-waste management and regulate laws for e-waste disposal. Develop guidelines and institutional framework for implementation of Basel Convention.
- Improve sanitation, hygiene and health through implementation of National Sanitation Policy.

3.5. FORESTRY AND LAND DEGRADATION

Context: Pakistan has an area of 3.3 million ha covered by forests and planted trees, which is equivalent to 4.8% of the total land area¹. This relative forest cover area is one of the lowest in the world and dismal even within the context of South Asia. Secondly, the forest resources of Pakistan are deteriorating both qualitatively and quantitatively and the annual change rate during 1990-2000 was -1.8% and during 2000-2005 was - 2.1%, which again ignobly stands out as an *extremely high*ⁱⁱ deforestation rate (See Figure-11). Most of the forest area is concentrated in the northern part of the country i.e. KPK province), Northern Areas and Azad Jammu & Kashmir (AJK) and comprises coniferous and scrub forest (Figure-12). The main types of forests in other parts include juniper, chilghoza, scrub, riverine and mangrove forests. Irrigated plantations have been raised mainly in Punjab and Sindh provinces. Rangelands are of different types too and are distributed throughout the country.

Classification	Area		Annual change rate			Total change				
Period	1990	2000	2005	1990- 2000	1990- 2000	2000- 2005	2000- 2005	1990- 2005	1990- 2005	1990s VS 2000s
Units	ha	ha	ha	ha	%	ha	%	ha	96	%
Total forest area	2,527,000	2,116,000	1,902,000	-41000	-1.8	-43000	-2.1	625,000	24.73	16.67
Other wooded land	1191000	1323000	1389000	13,200	1.11	13,200	1	198,000	16.62	9.98
Primary forests								b		
Plantations	234000	296000	318000	5,200	2.65	4,400	1.49	84000	35.9	43.9

Figure 11: Forest cover in Pakistan, 1990-2005⁵⁵

Also, Pakistan boasts one of the largest canal irrigation systems in the world, accounting for 90 percent of agricultural output. However, owing to seepage through unlined canals and underinvestment in their operation and maintenance, almost 60 percent of the total water supply is lost in the network before reaching the farm gate⁵⁶ leading to waterlogging and salinity which is degrading agricultural lands in the country. According to a report the annual economic losses due to this problem are estimated at Rs 70 billion⁵⁷.Pakistan is mainly a dryland country, with 80% of its land in arid and semi-arid areas. Two-thirds of its population depends on drylands to support their livelihoods. There is a serious threat of land degradation

⁵⁵ All data derived from the Forest Resources Assessment and the State of the World's Forests published by the U.N. Food and Agriculture Organization (F.A.O). Available at http://rainforests.mongabay.com/deforestation/pakistan.html

⁵⁶ Mohtadullah, Rehman, and Munir. 1992. Water for the 21st Century . Pakistan National ConservationStrategy Sector Paper 3, E&UAD, Government of Pakistan. ⁵⁷ World Bank (2006)

and desertification in many parts of the country, the situation is further aggravated by scarcity of water, frequent droughts and mismanagement of land resources. World over the adoption of SLM practices over wider landscape has emerged as an important tool to promote holistic land stewardship by blending SLM practices, technologies, and policies in a way that environmental concerns are integrated in the overall socio-economic well being of the people. The development and implementation of village level land use plans can further help to adopt SLM practices. The coverage, significance, threats and main possible interventions in the land resource regions of Pakistan are described in the Table 5.

Region	Coverage	Significance	Threat	Main SLM interventions
Northern Mountains	Malakand & Hazara Division, Norther areas, Murree-Kahuta tehsil of Rawalpindi district, AJK	Catchment for Tarbela & Mangla discharging water to Indus, produces crops like wheat, maize, potato and deciduous fruits.	Sheet, rill & gully erosion, high rainfall erosivity & soil erodibility, land sliding.	Afforestation, especially on degraded mountain slopes (Slopping Agriculture Land Technology), pasture improvement, soil conservation, bio- engineering & terrace maintenance, Preserving biodiversity, especially medicinal plants, Off-season fruits & vegetables cultivation & on-farm water management, Water resource development.
Barani Lands	Pothowar plateau, Norther Gujrat & Sialkot,	Produces wheat, peanut, maize, sorghum etc., grazing of large number of livestock	Soil erosion, drought	Dryland afforestation in gullied and eroded lands, Agro-forestry, Range improvement, Soil and water conservation, Rainwater harvesting, low delta crops and rainfed agriculture, High efficiency irrigation system & on-farm water management
Irrigated plains	Canal command area of Punjab, Sindh & Peshawar-Mardan	World's largest contiguous canal network. Produces agricultural crops, fruits & fodder for livestock	Salinity, Sodicity, Waterlogging, Floods, industrial pollution	Rehabilitation of saline-sodic and waterlogged soils, Saline Agriculture, improvement of drainage system, Agro-forestry & on-farm water management
Sandy deserts	Thal, Cholistan, Thar & Chagai-Kharan	Grazing by transhumant livestock & produces crops like millet, guara, gram & fodder for goat/sheep.	Moving sand dunes, Seasonal shortage of forage, drinking water & saline groundwater	Sand-dune stabilization, Shelterbelts/woodlots, Dryland afforestation, Range improvement, Rainwater harvesting, Biodiversity conservation, low delta crops (Date palm, gram, pulses etc.) and rainfed agriculture, High efficiency irrigation system & on-farm water management
Sulaiman Rod Kohi	Rod Kohi areas of districts of D.I.Khan, Tank, Bannu, Karak, D.G. Khan, Rajanpur, Kashmor, Kohlu, Zhob, Loralai, Sibi & Karachi etc.	Unique water distribution system. Produces date palm, mangoes, wheat, maize, cotton & fodder for goat/sheep.	Un-predicted drought & flash floods, deficiencies in water distribution system	Soil and water conservation, Rodh kohi irrigation improvement, Rangeland improvement, Dryland afforestation, Agro-forestry, Biodiversity conservation & on-farm water management
Dry mountains	Western: Upland Balochistan (Except coastal belt) & tribal areas/agencies near Bannu district Northern: tribal areas/agencies near Kohat & Peshawar districts	Largest region of Pakistan with estimated area of more than 0.3 Million km ² (≈43% of total area of Pakistan). Grazing land used by transhumant and sedentary agro-pastoralists.	Drought, minimum recharge of aquifer, very low vegetation cover & saline groundwater	Dryland afforestation, Rangeland improvement, Rainwater harvesting/recharging, Biodiversity conservation, low delta crops and rainfed agriculture, High efficiency irrigation system Soil and water conservation/rehabilitation & on-farm water management
Coastal region	Gwadar District & southern parts of Karachi, Lasbella, Thattha & Badin districts	Mangrove forests and other coastal biodiversity	Moving sand dunes in dry areas, saline groundwater, poor quality soil, mangroves deterioration	Sand-dune stabilization, Shelterbelts/woodlots, afforestation, Saline agriculture, management of mangroves, low delta crops (Date palm etc.), High efficiency irrigation system & on-farm water management

Table 5: Land Resources of Pakistan (Significance, Threats and Management Interventions)⁵⁸

⁵⁸ Source: Pakistan's National Action Program to Combat Desertification (2002)

Issues and Trends: The Natural Forest Resource Assessment Study (NFRRAS, 2004) shows that the forest resources are declining in Pakistan. It is estimated that the most valuable coniferous forest is declining at the rate of 40,000 hectares annually. Northern Areas and KPK⁵⁹ province have the highest annual rates of deforestation (about 34,000 hectares in Northern Areas and 8000 hectares in KPK province). The effectiveness of policies needs to be determined by comparing the cost of investment to the marginal benefits.

The main causes of deforestation have been outlined as rapid increase in population beyond the carrying capacity of forests, illegal timber extraction by individuals and organized groups, inadequate forest protection measures, forest encroachment through urbanization and agricultural use, arid climatic conditions, overexploitation of forest resources coupled with lack of regeneration, dependence of rural population on wood for fuel and heating, over gazing of land by cattle, forest fires and inefficient use of water.

The Government is trying to reverse this downward trend by taking a number of measures including afforestation, reforestation as well as trying to provide an economic value to the carbon sequestered by forests through emerging market based instruments such as REDD+⁶⁰.

In terms of agricultural land degradation loss of soil productivity, soil erosion, water logging, salinity are major issues. Although water logging has receded in recent years, thanks to improvements in the drainage system and installation of tube wells, salinity has become more acute. This is due to excessive percolation of water from the canal system, evaporation of saline groundwater, inadequate water for leaching of the soil, and increased tapping of brackish groundwater through tube well irrigation.

Intensive extraction of soil nutrients, without adequate organic replenishment, also threatens the sustainability of irrigated areas. Also, agricultural runoff from indiscriminate and inappropriate use of agricultural pesticides has contaminated groundwater and surface water, leading to downstream human health disorders. Another environmental issue is the lack of property rights for irrigation, resulting in its inefficient use and wastage.

- Increase the forest cover of Pakistan from 4.8% in 1990-91 to 6.0% by 2015.
- Steps will be taken to promote public-private and market oriented farm forestry initiatives along with targeted programs for urban forestry as well as forests in flood plains, drylands, riverine and catchment areas and capturing the potential of women, being the main custodians.

	ANNUAL COST				
	Low estimate	Mean	High estimate		
Direct use values	122	186	250		
Sustainable timber	28	71	114		
production					
Fuelwood production	41	41	41		
Non timber products	25	25	25		
Tourism and recreation	28	49	70		
Indirect use values	84	84	84		
Direct Plus Indirect	206	270	334		

⁵⁹ Khyber Pakhtoonkhwa

⁶⁰ Reduction of Deforestation and Degradation

Table 6: Forest Services: Annual Deforestation cost (Million Rs.)

- Mangrove forests in the country to be preserved through GIS based documentation and strict control of urban encroachments.
- Introduce programmes on sustainable forest management and the value of sustainable forestry aiming to sensitize the public and stakeholders at the local, provincial and federal level.
- Strict enforcement of Forest Protection laws in particular to limit and control powerful timber interests.
- Promotion of REDD+ (Reduction of Emissions from deforestation and degradation) program in Pakistan
 for preservation of forests through private sector led carbon sequestration and carbon credit
 generation. In this regards, private sector would be encouraged to allocarte resources under CSR for
 REDD+ development. Also, a clear regulatory process needs to be developed urgently to oversee REDD+
 activities in the country especially to ensure rights of forestry stakeholders and indigenous populations.
- Promote land use planning for SLM (Sustainable Land Management) at village, district, provincial and national levels.
- Mainstream Sustainable Land Management (SLM) principles and best land use practices as well as technologies into sectoral policies, strategies, programs and development plans.
- Undertake measures to control water logging and salinity in agricultural lands to sustain longevity of productive lands including use of flood plain management tools wherever feasible.
- Complete the lining of canals across the country to address a major source for water inefficiency as well as water losses due to seepage while also providing considerable employment opportunities.



Figure 12: Forest Distribution by Region in Pakistan

Source: NEEDS Study, Feb 2011

3.6. BIODIVERSITY PROTECTION

Context: Biodiversity refers to the variety of life, which can be seen in diverse habitats or ecosystems, species and genetic diversity. Sustainability of ecosystems depends to a large extent on the buffering capacity provided by having a rich and healthy diversity of genes, species and habitats. The air we breathe, the water we drink and the soil that supports crop production are all products of the complex interactions that occur among various living organisms on earth. These services include cleaning of water and regulation of the water cycle, purification of air, pollination, soil formation and protection, crop pest control, and the

provision of food, fuel, fibers and drugs. Moreover, genetic diversity in domestic species and their wild relatives enables researchers to develop improved varieties of animals and plants for human needs: which serves as an insurance for future food security. In addition diversity in wild plant species is a major medicinal resource in *yunani tibb* (traditional medicine) and 40% of allopathic drugs were originally made from wild medicinal plants (GoP, 2000). This entails safeguarding all components of biodiversity, ecosystems or habitats, species as well as genetic diversity⁶¹.

Issues and Trends: With a widespread conversion of natural ecosystems to agriculture, erosion and rapid degradation of habitats, spread of alien invasive species and the continuing depletion of populations of wild animals and plants, almost all remaining natural or modified ecosystems are now critically threatened. To date, no systematic and comprehensive assessment with the aim of objectively ranking the biodiversity importance of Pakistan's natural ecosystems has been made. However, based on various reports and the opinions of recognized authorities, Biodiversity Action Plan of Pakistan⁶² identifies at least 10 ecosystems of particular value (Figure-13) for their species richness and/or unique communities of flora and fauna that are threatened with habitat loss and degradation. These ecosystems are considered to be of critical concern in conservation. Pakistan, realizing the importance, has been initiating a number of projects in the sector⁶³. Also, presently there is realization that many areas of biodiversity that have largely remained ignored need to be addressed in order to enable Pakistan fulfill the obligations to the CBD. These areas include taxonomy under Global Taxonomy Initiative or GTI, GSPC (Global Strategy on Plant Conservation) and revisit of the protected Areas system by involving the local and indigenous communities.

ECOSYSTEM	CHARACTERISTICS	SIGNIFICANCE	THREATS
indus delta and coastal wellands	Extensive mangroves and muditan inackequite protected area coverage	Rich avian and marine fauna Diverse mangrove habitat Marine surbe habitat	Reduced Reelwater Bow Irone diversions upstream Cutting mangroves for fuelwood Drainuge of coastal wetlands
Indus river and wetlands Extensive wetlands Migratory Byway of global importance Habitat for Indus tiver Bolphin		Water diversion/dtainage Agricultural intensification Toxic pollutants	
Chagai desert	A desert of great antiquity	Many endemic and unique species	Proposed mining Hunting parties from the Gulf
Balochistan juniper forest	Huge and ancient junipers	Largest remaining juniper forest in the world Unique flora and fauna	Fuelwood cutting and overgrazing Habitat fragmentation
Chilghoza forest (Sulaiman Range)	hilghoza forest Rock outcrops with shallow Important wikilife habitat i nountain solb several species at risk		Fuelwood cutting and overgrazing Regal hunting
Balochistan sub-tropical forests	echistan Mid-alitude forests with Very few areas new remains b-tropical forests uparse canopy but rich Important wildlife habitur associated flore		Funkwood cutting and overgeszing
Balochistan rivers	Not connected with the Indus river system	Unique aquatic fauns and flora with high levels of endemism	Water diversion/drainage Overfishing
Tropical deciduous forests (Rimalayan foothills)	Estend from the Margalia Hills National Park east to Azad Kashmir	Perhaps the most floristically rich ecosystem of Pakistan	Fuelwood cutling and overgrazing
Moist and dry temperate Himalayan forests	Important forest tracts now becoming increasingly fragmented	Global hotspot for avian diver- sity; important wildfile habitat	Commercial logging Fuelwood cutting and overgrazing
Trans-Himalayan alps and plateaux	Spectacular recuntain scenery	Unique Rora and Journa: center of endersism	Funlwood catting and overgrazing Illegal hunting Unregulated tourism Habitat fragmentation

Figure 13: Threats to Major Ecosystems in Pakistan⁶⁴

⁶¹ CBD Action and Strategy Plan for Pakistan, 1999

⁶² "Biodiversity Action Plan", Government of Pakistan, 2000

⁶³ Many projects have been implemented in Pakistan since the Rio summit that remained focused on species and ecosystems, these projects including MACP, PAMP and PMAC. The Government of Pakistan created a new Biodiversity Directorate to address the whole issues of biodiversity including sustainable use, conservation and equitable sharing of the benefits.

⁶⁴ NSDS 2009

- Promote the future environment conservation, management and resource use based on a threepronged approach i.e. equitable sharing of benefits of environmental management, increasing community management of natural resources, and integrating environmental issues into socio-economic development planning through the concept of payment for ecosystem services (PES) to achieve sustainable development.
- Save the natural resources from depletion and stress, especially water and land, focusing on eco-based interventions especially designed for the varied ecological zones of the country.
- Preservation of the diverse wetlands and forests of the country that are repositories of the country's biodiversity.
- Develop Protected Area Systems plan for protecting flora and fauna of global significance as well as ensuring that the National Parks of the country are effectively managed through community based empowerment.
- Take steps towards creation of a gene pool/bank as a bio-repository that can preserve genetic material for the plants, animals as well as forest biodiversity present in the country.
- Develop gaps analysis on each thematic area of the CBD and establish dedicated scientific and management authorities for the effective implementation of biodiversity related conventions such as CITES.
- Conserve life support systems, habitats, species and genetic diversity as the assets of mankind and promote tangibly defined efforts such as doubling of forest cover by 2030, as envisaged in Vision 2030.
- Prepare a list of national lists of threatened species including those which are nationally rare and declining; those which are nationally rare, not declining, but otherwise at risk and those which are highly localized in distribution; and those which are still widespread and common but suffering significant decline.

Chapter 4.

EMERGING ISSUE OF CLIMATE CHANGE & SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Climate Change is globally posing one of the most pressing challenges to the pursuit of sustainable development. This is especially true for developing countries that are particularly vulnerable to the unavoidable impacts of this new and emerging issue. The inescapable linkages between climate change and sustainable development were recognized at the global level when the 14th and 15th meetings of the Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD) called for integrating the concerns, as well as opportunities, arising out of this interaction.

The CSD advocated that the NSDS should become the central document to outline a comprehensive development framework that incorporates the needs for future climate adaptation as well as mitigation. Also, it was suggested that any such integrative approach should be coherent with the globally accepted principles of ensuring equity and aligned with the "common but differentiated responsibilities" between developed and developing countries.

4.1. The Pakistan Context

The issues of climate change directly and very strongly impinge upon future planning for sustainable development in Pakistan, which stands, on the front lines of this global challenge.

Pakistan is a very small contributor to the problem having not only one of the lowest per capita emissions of greenhouse gases in the world but also, cumulatively, adding only 0.8%⁶⁵ to these global emissions. Yet Pakistan is turning out to be one of the worst casualties of climate change. This undeniable fact is now being duly acknowledged as the country is now consistently placed in the extreme vulnerable category by a host of climate change impact indices. These include the Maple Croft index, the Columbia University vulnerability index and the recently launched "German Watch" climate risk index which has placed Pakistan at the top of the list of countries at risk from climate change in 2010 (See Table-7).

Rank	Country	CRI Score	Death Toll	Deaths per 100000 inhabitants	Absolute Losses (M \$ PPP)	Losses per unit GDP in %	HDI
1	Pakistan	3.5	1891	1.1	25316	5.42	145
2	Guatemala	6.33	229	1.59	1969	2.80	131
3	Colombia	8.0	320	0.70	7544	1.73	87
4	Russia	11.0	56165	39.3	5537	0.25	66
5	Honduras	14.67	139	1.73	220	0.65	121
6	Oman	17	24	0.81	1314	1.73	89
7	Poland	17.83	151	0.40	4745	0.66	39

⁶⁵ "Report of Task Force on Climate Change", 2010, Ministry of Planning, Government of Pakistan.

8	Portugal	19.67	47	0.44	1749	0.71	41
9	China	23.50	2889	0.22	33395	0.33	101
10	Tajikistan	24.17	27	0.35	262	1.77	127

Table 7: Pakistan's Ranking in the German-Watch Climate Index

Pakistan can, thus definitely be termed as prime victim of global "climate injustice" - bearing the burden of the impacts with a minimal contribution to this global problem.

The country's extreme vulnerability to climate change is a feature of its geographic location, elevation as well as demographics. Pakistan lies on a steep incline, dropping sharply from almost 8500 meters down to sea level within a distance of less than 3000 km. This situation is augmented by the presence of huge glacial reserves in the north of the country, which melt and flow through the country, supplying more than 70% of the river flows. This frozen "blue gold" is the country's most precious reserve and sustains the agro based economy aided by the unpredictable monsoon rains of the summer. The glacial melt and the monsoons overlap in a three-month summer period providing the irrigation water needed for the arid country but, ironically, also dangerously raising the risk of flash floods in the rivers. The dense population base, of more than 176 million, that resides along these flood plains is, subsequently, directly impacted and reinforces the country's vulnerability.

Climate Change is now beginning to add a new erratic and volatile ingredient into this equation by not only augmenting the melting of the glaciers (ICIMOD) in the north but also enhancing the unpredictability of the monsoons. All of this affects the water flows through the mighty Indus river artery of Pakistan, which sustains the country's agriculture and its "one river economy". Subsequently climate change poses a major threat, directly as well as indirectly, to food, water and energy security in the country. In addition coastal and marine environment, agriculture and livestock sector, forests and biodiversity and health are other areas that will be seriously affected as the climate induced melting of glaciers, cyclonic storm surges, tropical diseases epidemics, flash floods, droughts and variable monsoons turn into an inevitable future reality for Pakistan.

4.2. Climate triggered natural disasters and Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR)

Perhaps the most serious and visible affect of climate change in Pakistan is a predicted increase in both the frequency and severity of climate related extreme events such as floods, droughts, cyclones and heat waves. This threatening prophecy is now fulfilling itself in Pakistan. Research indicates that in the past 40 years, nine out of the top ten natural disasters in Pakistan have been climate triggered which clearly points to the magnitude of the challenge (Table-8).

	Disaster	Date	Damage (000 US\$)
1	Flood	2010	9500000
2	Earthquake	2005	5200000
3	Storm	2007	1620000
4	Flood	1992	1000000

Table 8: Top 10 natural disasters in Pakistan (NEEDS, 2011)

5	Flood	1973	661500
6	Flood	1976	505000
7	Flood	2007	327118
8	Drought	1999	247000
9	Flood	2001	246000
10	Flood	2008	103000

The past two years, in particular, have provided the starkest reminder yet with the country experiencing the climate triggered formation of glacial lakes, spread of the dengue epidemic as well as devastating floods that ravaged through the country's infrastructure and left its, already feeble, economy reeling for survival. This rising frequency and intensity of climate related disasters is forcing Pakistan to mainstream disaster risk reduction and management into national policy making.

Even at the global level it is becoming clear that, in most cases, the economic exposure to disasters is increasing even faster than *per capita* gross domestic product (GDP)⁶⁶ and climate change will accentuate the severity and frequency of hazards and associated disaster losses in the future. In Pakistan, this theory is already becoming a reality (Table-7).

Realizing the importance of disaster risk management the Government of Pakistan has embarked upon establishing appropriate policy, legal and institutional arrangements, and implementing strategies and programs to minimize risks and vulnerabilities. The National Disaster Management Authority has been established and similar authorities are being established at provincial and district levels. The National Disaster Risk Management Framework has been formulated to guide the work of entire system in the area of disaster risk management. It has been developed through wide consultation with stakeholders from local, provincial and national levels. The principles established in the Framework are:

- Promoting multi-stakeholder, multi-sectoral and multi-disciplinary approaches,
- Reducing vulnerability of most vulnerable social groups,
- Strengthening community and local level risk reduction capacities,
- Combining scientific and people's knowledge,
- Developing culturally, socially, economically and environmentally relevant technologies,
- Strengthening sustainable livelihood practices,
- Acquiring specific capacities in view of the hazard-risk profile of the area and country, and
- Working with other countries, and the international community to promote disaster risk reduction.

These positive steps are important to form a solid foundation for DRR. However, more proactive measures to reduce risk, based on updated and comprehensive risk assessments and the integration of risk-reduction measures into national economic and development planning need to be evolved so that, eventually, economic policy can be recalibrated to take account of the rising risks of climate triggered disasters.

⁶⁶ Climate and Development Knowledge Network (CDKN) report, (2012), 'Tackling Exposure; Placing Disaster Risk Management at the Heart of National Economic and Fiscal Policy'.

4.3. The Economic costs of Adaptation and Sustainable Development

The economic consequences and associated costs of above stated climate impacts are tremendous and directly burden and threaten the sustainable development of the country. Pakistan has carried out a recent study⁶⁷ aiming to estimate these costs, which provides the first glimpse of the economic challenge, linked to future climate change in Pakistan. Through a top-down analysis it reinforces, within Pakistan's context, the inconvenient truths already known about the need and capacity to adapt to these climatic changes.

Most importantly, it highlights the fact that it would be relatively inexpensive to avoid some impacts but prohibitively expensive to avoid others and that there will be considerable "residual damage" or damage that cannot be adapted to. According to global estimations this could be as high as 66% of the total damages (Figure-14). In other words climate vulnerable countries, like Pakistan, will just have to learn to live and cope with most of the climate induced damages in the future.



Figure 14: A generalized adaptation cost curve

Estimating the actual economic costs of adaptation is still a nascent concept at the global level with a plethora of techniques floating around but no one accepted as the norm. However, all unanimously project very high impact costs for the South Asian region and also accept the infrastructure sector as being the most impacted by climate change. Thus it comes as no surprise that the cost estimates for bearing the brunt of future climate impacts range in the U\$ 6 billion to U\$ 14 billion per year range for Pakistan over the next 40 year horizon.

Method	Time period	Cost of adaptation per annum
Actual (2010)	One year (2010)	9.7++
As a percent of GDP	2010-2050	10.71
Per Capita Basis	2010-2050	7.12 to 14.0
Disaster Modeling (Floods only * 3)	2010-2050	6.09 to 11.3

Table 9: Estimates of Adaptation Costs per annum (2010-2040), (NEEDS, 2011)

Moreover, the study forecasts that this is going to be a figure that, in cumulative terms, will rise with time as adaptation gets more expensive and the country copes with unavoidable damages. Three separate forecasting models based on GDP percentages, per capita estimations and using past disaster costs and frequency have been used to deduce this range (Table-9).

⁶⁷Aslam, Malik Amin et. al, "National Economic and Environmental Development Study" NEEDS, (2011), Ministry of Environment (Government of Pakistan) and UNFCCCC, Bonn, Germany.

Quite clearly this research re-enforces the inescapable linkage between climate impacts and sustaining future development in the country and the need to not only integrate these into future planning but also develop a comprehensive adaptation plan to control the costs and associated risks in the future.

4.4. Potential Climate Mitigation & overlaps with Sustainable Development in Pakistan

While being at the receiving end of climate impacts the country is, ironically, one of the lowest contributors to the problem both in historic as well as current terms. At present, Pakistan contributes 0.8 per cent of the total global GHG emission and ranking 135th globally on a per-capita basis. Although Pakistan's per capita energy consumption and cumulative CO2 emissions are extremely low, the CO2 emissions per unit of energy consumption are relatively high. Pakistan's total GHG emissions⁶⁸ were 310 million tons of CO2 equivalents (MtCDE) in 2008⁶⁹ as shown in the comparative Figure-15.

In terms of sector distribution, the energy sector (including transport) is the most significant contributor to GHG emissions in Pakistan accounting for over 51% of country's total emissions (0.45 % of world's total) followed by 39% for Agriculture and Livestock. Thus almost 90% of Pakistan's GHG emissions emanate from the Energy and Agriculture-Livestock sectors and, subsequently, this is the area where the thrust of Pakistan's mitigation efforts needs to be focused.

Although, the emissions in the land use and forestry (LULUCF) sector are a small percentage, it is an issue of concern that currently Pakistan has an extremely low forest cover (4.8%) which is coupled with a high rate of deforestation of about 0.2 - 0.4 % per annum. This, however, provides an opportunity for the utilization of global financial instruments to avoid and reverse deforestation (REDD+).





(All data is in million ton carbon dioxide equivalents (MtCDE))

Given the above scenario of an extremely high vulnerability and very low quantum of GHG emissions, it is quite logical that the focus of Pakistan's climate change response is likely to be on adaptation measures – trying to cope with and face up to extreme climate impacts. However, while the country still requires considerable future emissions space to account for its anticipated rapid economic growth it can, simultaneously, play an effective and responsible global role by ensuring that this growth happens along a lower-carbon trajectory. This can be done by integrating a host of carbon mitigation options and measures

⁶⁸ These emissions comprised of carbon dioxide (54%), methane (36%), nitrous oxide (9%), carbon monoxide (1%) and Non-Methane Volatile Organic Compounds (0.3%)

⁶⁹ PAEC-ASAD (2009): Athar G. R., Ahmad, Aijaz. and Mumtaz, A. Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventory of Pakistan for the year 2007-08 (This report has been commissioned by the Government of Pakistan and is in the final stages of approval and official publishing).

into its future development plans – for which a large latent potential exists if aided by adequate finance and appropriate technology.

Under a business-as-usual development scenario, Pakistan is aiming for significant economic growth in the future. Moreover, the country is planning to fuel this growth through an increased reliance and utilization of its indigenous coal reserves in the 2010-2050 time frame (Table 9/Figure-16)⁷⁰

	2011	2020	2030	2040	2050
Total GHG Emissions (Mt CO ₂ eq.)	347	557	1046	2156	4621
Energy	176	295	560	1250	2730
% Share	50.6	52.9	53.5	58.0	59.1
Agriculture	134	210	408	812	1765
% Share	38.7	37.7	39.0	37.7	38.2
Industry	20	30	52	61	75
% Share	5.8	5.4	5.0	2.8	1.6
LULUCF	10	13	15	20	35
% Share	2.9	2.3	1.4	0.9	0.8
Waste	7	9	11	13	16
% Share	1.9	1.6	1.1	0.6	0.3

Table 10: Sector-wise GHG Emissions 2011 – 2050 (NEEDS, 2010)



Figure 16: Total GHG Emissions 2011-50 (NEEDS, 2010)

This energy fuel shift is poised to increase its GHG emissions by almost 15 times in the next 40 years. However, recent analytical research study (NEEDS, 2011) indicates that an alternate clean development pathway is possible which can be along a lower carbon trajectory and also be a win-win development option. Moreover, the framework for this clean growth trajectory will encompass the following:

⁷⁰ NEEDS (2011)

- Requirement for significant financial needs to try to de-link Pakistan's economic growth from, a corresponding, growth in emissions. The low carbon development scenarios projected for the country estimate "additional" investment costs of mitigation ranging **between \$8 billion to \$17 billion to 2050**, as progressively cleaner coal and a higher percentage of renewable energy technologies are employed.
- The possibility to reduce emissions by 40% from the BAU scenario by employing cleaner technologies.
- The mitigation costs of U\$ 17 billion will result in significant carbon reductions that, if priced at a reasonable future value of carbon (U\$ 25/tC) provides an estimate of U\$ 27.3 bn (which can be potentially capitalized through the carbon market) indicating a positive cost-benefit ratio. The access and availability of the requisite climate finance to make this low carbon transition, however, remains a challenge.
- An extensive "Technology Needs Assessment" to clearly identify the best available technologies that can be employed in the future to make a clean energy transition.
- Access to appropriate GHG reducing technologies and supportive financing is required if Pakistan is to successfully shift the trajectory of its future BAU growth towards a low carbon pathway.
- Considering the long term gestation period for energy sector investments and the fact that today's investments will "lock in" the infrastructure, fuel and technologies for decades to come it is extremely important for Pakistan to generate these additional finances if it has to make the choice towards a low a carbon future. The carbon market provides one of the possible options to do that.

4.5. Carbon market in Pakistan – Financing Sustainable Development

As indicated above, Pakistan needs significant climate finance to cater to the needs of inducing a shift towards a low carbon future as well as cope with the needs of adapting to climate change. The burgeoning carbon marketplace has grown in size exponentially rising from just U\$ 10 billion in 2005 to \$118 in 2008⁷¹ and it is now predicted to reach the level of U\$ 1 trillion/year in the near future. All these figures point towards a progressively increasing momentum in the carbon market.

This new market in the carbon commodity provides a strong linkage and opportunity for financing sustainable development through nationally appropriate climate mitigation activities. Since its inception, it has managed to be an effective financing vehicle for promotion of projects focused in the clean energy development (renewable, waste to energy, transport) as well as sustainable forestry sectors. In doing so, it has been instrumental in shifting the economic growth of countries towards a more sustainable and lower carbon trajectory in the most cost effective manner.

For Pakistan, the Clean Development Mechanism can be leveraged for securing funding for low carbon development especially for clean energy projects such as renewable energy. In this regards, Pakistan has already announced the CDM operational strategy and institutionalised the CDM host country capacity. Although this has, so far, resulted in attracting more than 60 projects so far (*which are at different stages of development in Pakistan with more than 20 having got "host" country approval*) there is no doubt that this effort needs to be much improved and strategically enhanced to realise the full potential of the carbon market in Pakistan. A list of the projects (Table-10) shows that there is a strong focus on projects fostering clean energy and sustainable development in Pakistan.

⁷¹ "State and trends of the carbon market 2008" (World Bank Publication), Washington DC.

		Pakistan		
Sectors	Global	Current Projects	Pipeline Projects	
Energy	64.96	57.14	58.33	
Waste management	1945	28 57	16 67	
Industrial process	9.63	14.29	16.67	
Transportation	0.13	0	D	
Land use & forestation	0.08	0	8.33	
Agriculture & livestock	5.78	0	0	

Source, UNFCC & CDM Cell, MOE, GOP

Table 11: Sector wise distribution of Pakistan's CDM project (MoE, 2010)

This avenue for financing is, however, subject to a global competitive environment. Also, with coal deployment being one of the primary strategies in the future energy expansion in the country the CDM's role in the future energy scenario may be limited as it has, so far, not financed clean coal technologies. Moreover, the long gestation period for CDM project development and, associated transaction costs have led to an under-utilisation of this instrument in Pakistan's context. The potential for its enhanced use do, however, exist if the mentioned barriers can be strategically overcome and upcoming avenues such as carbon capture and storage are strategically targeted for optimal capitalisation in Pakistan.

Also, within this context, the forestry sector in Pakistan provides an opportunity for securing carbon market finance for sustainable development. At the moment, Pakistan faces the challenge of arresting the very high deforestation rates along with low and declining forest area coverage. Whereas, both these statistics provide a dismal picture of the country's forestry sector they do, ironically, provide an inherent opportunity to benefit from REDD+ which is globally aimed at financially rewarding a reversal of high deforestation.

Pakistan stands to greatly benefit from interventions carried out to arrest the rapid deforestation especially in the forests stocks still left standing. This will not only assist Pakistan in furthering its sustainable development by addressing a local environmental issue but also generate global value by contributing to the fight against climate change through preserving a valuable carbon asset.

To realize this, however, the carbon value of the forests in Pakistan needs to be financially identified and quantified in both current as well as future terms in preparation for an international REDD regime which aims to recognize the value of these global assets of sequestered carbon.

In addition to the above, Pakistan has to be strategically cognisant of other financial instruments such as the Adaptation Fund, the "Green Climate Fund" under the Cancun agreements and other MDB climate funds in order to access the, much needed, climate finance which can address the dual challenges of climate change and sustainable development in the country.

4.6. Institutional response to Climate Change in Pakistan:

The Government of Pakistan set up a Task Force to take stock of country's situation in relation to climate change and to contribute to the formulation of National Climate Change Policy. The Task Force has completed its work and its report has been published (GoP 2010). It's recommendations have led to the preparation of the, recently approved, national climate change policy and the ongoing development of adaptation and mitigation action plans.

Pakistan's international commitments regarding climate change finds expression in its national policy frameworks such as the, recently announced, National Climate Change Policy, the Framework for Economic Growth (2011) which lists "Environment and Climate Change" as one of the action matrix, the Medium Term Development Plan 2010-2015, One UN programme on Environment, National Environmental Policy as well

as the National Energy Conservation Policy. These documents describe clearly how the government intends to honor its international commitments on climate change.

The Government of Pakistan (GOP) has also made institutional arrangements to handle climate change issues, which among others include the Prime Minister's Committee on Climate Change (PMCCC) and a multi stakeholder and inter-ministerial Core Advisory group on climate change. The PMCCC is an overarching body, which meets about once a year to monitor the climate change related developments taking place globally and within Pakistan and provide overall policy guidance. Global Change Impact Studies Centre (GCISC) serves as the secretariat to PMCCC. The Core Advisory Group, however, has been meeting very frequently and playing an active and influential role on climate change matters ranging from overseeing the country's position in international climate negotiations to providing technical inputs on preparation of the national climate change policy.

The Ministry of Environment was the designated national focal point for UNFCCC and Kyoto Protocol but has now recently been transformed into the Ministry of Climate Change that clearly points towards the prioritized importance being provided to this important issue. The Ministry of Climate Change is now clearly mandated to lead the efforts to address climate challenges in the country while also coordinating with other concerned agencies/institutions on various technical aspects, including; The National Energy Conservation Centre (ENERCON); Alternative Energy Development Board; and Pakistan Council of Renewable Energy Technologies.

Other major relevant organizations in the country working on research in climate change and sea level rise include Pakistan Meteorological Department, Water and Power Development Authority (WAPDA), National Agriculture Research Centre (NARC), National Institute of Oceanography (NIO) and Space and Upper Atmosphere Research Commission (SUPARCO) as well as private sector NGO's such as LEAD, IUCN, WWF and SDPI. There are several other organizations in the country, the mandates and activities of which partly cover climate change related issues and which have either some very relevant climate change related capacities or are pursuing climate change related projects.

In the post 18th amendment scenario, the climate change institutional infrastructure has had to go through a drastic re-adjustment which is now beginning to settle down under the auspices of the newly formed Ministry of Climate Change. However, this federal Ministry needs to be significantly augmented through an inter-linked presence in various provinces where the implementation will take place. Moreover, the National Climate Change policy that has been recently approved by Cabinet will provide a sound framework for furthering climate change goals in the future.

These efforts need to be continued and enhanced to meet the strategic goals related to climate change listed below:

- Ensure mainstreaming of climate change into national decision making on economically important and vulnerable sectors of the economy. This should be done through the timely implementation of the Climate Change Policy and its integration with other planning and policy initiatives.
- Screen all new projects in the country for climate change impacts and opportunities for carbon credit generation by mandating it as part of the EIA process for new projects and also through the PC-1 project development process for all national budgetary funded projects.
- Undertake strategic adaptation responses at the policy, management / operational and community levels with a focus on facilitating bottoms up adaptation with maximum localized ownership. The inevitable climate adaptation response should be driven by a focused adaptation program and plan.

- In assessing impacts of climate change, special attention should be given to the poor and, already economically vulnerable, sections of society and to women and small children who are categorized as the worst victims of climate change.
- Ensure Water Security, Food Security and Energy Security of the country in the face of challenges posed by climate change, by devising and implementing appropriate adaptation measures in the respective sectors;
- Minimize the risks to the country's population and national economy arising from expected increase in frequency and intensity of extreme events and disasters such as floods, droughts, tropical storms etc. This disaster risk reduction should include climate proofing the existing infrastructure in the country and making any future development resilient to the impacts of climate change.
- Contribute to the international effort to check climate change by optimally shifting the country's growth trajectory on to a low carbon pathway without compromising on the energy needs for the country's socio-economic development or on the country's energy security considerations;
- Adopt SLM as a cost effective tool for adapting to as well as mitigating climate change impacts in dryland ecosystems.
- Strengthen inter-ministerial decision-making and coordination mechanism on climate change and promote capacity building of government and other relevant organizations working on climate change at National and Provincial level under the auspices of the Ministry of Climate Change;
- Improve knowledge and understanding of, and conduct systematic research and observation on climate change issues including promoting regional cooperation on climate related research for cross border climate impacts as well as shared early warning systems.
- Enhancing the accessibility to new climate finance, if and when it is available. This will depend greatly upon the availability of assimilative capacity in developing countries like Pakistan. In this regards, the country needs to prepare for this future by creating a specialized **National Climate Change Fund (NCCF)** which can act as a vehicle for catalyzing matched financing from climate donors as well as the new specialized funds being launched at the international level both in the public as well as private sectors. This fund should:
 - o Be tasked with development of projects targeted towards securing climate finance
 - Create and oversee national entities required to secure direct access finance (a new mode of financing which by passes the multilateral development bank routes) such as the "National Implementing Entity (NIE)" required to secure funds under the "Adaptation Fund".
 - Act as a catalyst in generating requisite resources for financing nationally appropriate mitigation actions as well as adaptation to climate change
 - Support to promote innovative approaches for manufacturing enterprises and value-chains to mitigate and adapt to climate change, in particular through the increased use of and access to renewable energy sources, prevention of carbon losses from value chains and process changes eliminating non-energy emissions of GHGs.

Chapter 5.

IMPLEMENTATION MECHANISM

The key to the success of the NSDS lies in its effective and timely implementation and, subsequently, this also presents the biggest challenge. It involves the evolutionary development of a multi-faceted approach that can align a number of factors to ensure that the NSDS not only gets fully and naturally integrated into mainstream decision making but also becomes the overarching approach towards future development planning in the country.

5.1. Elements of success

The NSDS is now operationally established in more than 106 countries with differing implementation models based upon country driven priorities. There are, however, some key success factors which have evolved out of global research⁷² on these various and diverse approaches. These self-explanatory factors are summarized in Table-11 below and have also been studied to develop Pakistan's implementation mechanism.

Governance Element	Effectiveness Criteria	
Nature of Strategy and Government Coordination	Higher number of departments as well as deeper involvement in the NSDS process is preferred	
Placement of overall responsibility	Direct ownership of top level leadership (PM/President office) enhances effectiveness	
Legislative underpinning	Embedding NSDS in legislation is better	
Link to budget process	Greater integration improves implementation	
Stakeholders involvement	Formal and broader stakeholder participation is better	
Links to local level	Clear guidance to and strong coordination with local plans is preferred	

Table 12: NSDS Elements of successful implementation (IISD, 2006)

5.2. The overall driver – A Framework for Action:

The strategic goals of the NSDS have already been specified in terms of the country's challenges within the tri-pillared framework of economic, social and environment and the overarching challenge of climate change that Pakistan faces. Effective implementation demands that these strategic goals are translated into a framework of action at all three levels of national governance along with an accountability structure and outcome based performance indicators.

In this regards, the NSDS has identified the following ten core program areas within the three interlocked and globally agreed development dimensions (Figure-17):

⁷² Darren Swanson and László Pintér, (2006) "Governance Structures for National Sustainable Development Strategies - Study of Good Practice Examples" IISD International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) prepared for The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) October 1st, 2006

Economic: Achieving a pro-poor, inclusive and green economic growth primarily by:

- Promoting cleaner production and encouraging sustainable consumption patterns in society.
- Promoting inclusive and sustainable growth through engaging the poor, women and youth, improved value addition chains, fair trade and public-private partnership.
- Prioritizing a reversal of inefficiencies in the water, energy and agriculture sectors.
- Internalizing true environmental costs in all economic decision and linking with global financial architecture to incentivize a green economy and aim to generate new job opportunities.

Social: Establishing a just and progressive society by:

- Alleviation of poverty and promoting equity amongst society, in particular, through providing universal coverage of basic needs, particularly, health, education and welfare and using them as engines for an equitable green economy.
- Extending social protection and safety nets for the poorest and most vulnerable particularly women.
- Productively enabling the expanding "youth bulge" present in the country as well as empowering women.

Environmental: Safeguarding the environment by:

- Conserving and enhancing the natural resource base while protecting biodiversity and managing fragile ecosystems through an integrated natural resource management approach.
- Enhancing the life support system by addressing air and water pollution and reducing the ecological footprint of growth through strengthening the regulatory framework and community-based interventions.
- Preparing for climate change and its accompanying uncertainties through comprehensive adaptation and mitigation planning and concrete implementation measures



Figure 17: The Ten-Core Green Action Agenda

All the above outlined sustainable development goals incorporate an evolutionary flexibility and also need to be further focused as targets aligned with existing policies along with a clear time line for delivery of outputs. However, this needs to be decided through the proposed institutional mechanism being proposed ahead.

5.3. Institutional framework for implementation

The NSDS proposes a three level institutional framework to implement the action agenda at the federal, provincial and local levels that is based upon the framework that has evolved over the years along with its current readjustments in the post-18th amendment scenario.

An evolving sustainable development framework: The National Conservation Strategy (NCS) of 1991, along with its fourteen core priority implementation areas, can be duly termed the natural precursor to the NSDS. The NCS was successful in establishing an enabling institutional environment for sustainable development through the establishment of a full-fledged Ministry of Environment, the setting up of an environment section in the Planning Commission and the enactment of the Pakistan Environmental Protection Act (PEPA) in 1997 along with the Pakistan Environmental Protection Council (headed by the Head of State) and Environment Protection Agencies at the federal and provincial levels. In addition to this a number of policies and plans have been made in Pakistan since then which are integral to future sustainable development in the country.

Policies and Plans – building blocks for SD

- Recent overarching Framework for Economic Growth (2011)
- Vision 2030

National Planning Blueprint

- Other relevant :
 - 5 year plans
 MTDF (Medium Term Dev Framework 2005-10)
 - ADP (Annual Development Plans)
 - PRSP (Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper)-2001-3-7
- National Sentation Policy
 National Energy Conservation Policy

National Climate Change Policy

National Environment Policy

- National Environmental Action Plan
- National Health Policy
- National Education Policy
- National Forestry Pelicy
- National Biodiversity Action Plan
- National Action Plan to combat desertification
- National Climate Change Folicy
- SME Development Policy



Figure 18: Policies and Plans integral to Sustainable Development

Whereas the Ministry of Environment has led the matters of sustainable development within the Government the other bodies influencing policies on this issue have included the National Economic Council (NEC), whose meetings are chaired by the head of state/government and comprises federal and provincial ministers, the Economic Committee of the Cabinet (ECC) and the powerful Executive Committee of the National Economic Council (ECNEC). In addition, at the Federal level the Planning Commission is responsible for the formulation of the five year development plans while at the provincial level the provincial planning departments are responsible for formulating the annual development plans and serve as focal points for the NEC and ECNEC.

Post-18th Amendment institutional developments: The 18th Amendment to the Constitution of Pakistan and the 7th National Finance Award⁷³ have, however, significantly transformed the governance structure in the country particularly with reference to sustainable development. Whereas the 18th Constitutional Amendment eliminated the concurrent list and devolved a number of sustainable development subjects

⁷³ Adopted in 2009

such as environment, health, food, education and population to the provincial level, the NFC award in turn provided a larger share of the government revenues to the provinces.

Subsequently, the Ministry of Environment and its associated subjects were either devolved⁷⁴ or assigned to other Federal Government Ministries. However, recently this process has been partly amended by firstly formulation of a Federal Ministry of Disaster Management⁷⁵ and then again renaming and evolving it into a Federal Ministry of Climate Change⁷⁶. Hopefully this final formation would now settle the cyclical process and provide a platform for efficient delivery of sustainable development.

Proposed Institutional Framework for NSDS: Given the historical evolution as well as the constitutional compulsions of the 18th amendment, a three tier institutional framework is being proposed (Figure-19). This can provide the overall governance structure for the implementation of the NSDS and also act as the glue to bind together the three strands of sustainability:

- National Sustainable Development Council N-SDC: It is proposed that the existing multi-stakeholder body of PEPC (Pakistan Environmental Protection Council), headed by the Prime Minister and having all Chief Ministers as members, may be re-designated as the National Sustainable Development Council (N-SDC) which will satisfy the requirements of the 18th amendment of removing environmental subject from the federal purview as well as meet the need for a high powered body which can effectively drive the implementation process. The mandate and membership of the commission may be broadened in line with the three aspects of Sustainable Development to include the following:
 - a. Plan, supervise and monitor the overall implementation of the NSDS through overarching guidance, coordination and integration.
 - b. Oversee development of a five year National Sustainable Development Plan, setting quantifiable goals on a variety of areas.
 - c. Define the contours of a "green economy" within the context of Pakistan to ensure sustenance of environmental capital while focusing on "triple win" programs and projects that intertwine the economic, social and environmental strands of sustainable development.
 - d. Collate and consolidate implementation from the provincial levels and develop national progress report for the international level.
 - e. Constitute a steering committee under the Chairmanship of the deputy Chairman, Planning Commission and comprising the Federal Secretaries of Finance, Planning, Climate Change and Social welfare as its members to oversee the implementation and reporting process for the NSDS.
 - f. The Ministry of Climate Change should continue to act as the secretariat of this renamed body.
 - g. Oversee the design, approval, working and monitoring of National Sustainable Development Fund as well as explore other innovative funding mechanisms.
 - h. Create focused and empowered thematic working groups and public-private round tables as per need
 - i. Approve incentives for promotion of NSDS goals
- 2. *Provincial Sustainable Development Council (P-SDC):* The provinces would have the flexibility to choose who is designated as the sustainable development commission at the provincial level but preference should be given to multi-stakeholder composition and existing bodies such as the PDD's or planning and development divisions. The mandate of this commission would be:

⁷⁴ Cabinet Division notification 29th June 2011

⁷⁵ Vide Cabinet Division notification dated and comprising NDMA, PEPC, Federal EPA, PEPAC, GCCISC and policy, legislation, plans, strategies and programs regarding disaster management, climate change, environmental protection and preservations and MEA's.

⁷⁶ Vide Cabinet Division notification dated 18th April, 2012

- a. To develop and implement a Provincial Sustainable Development Strategy, if deemed appropriate.
- b. To develop and implement projects on sustainable development
- c. Ensure compliance and enforcement of the NSDS provisions
- d. Consolidate progress from local level and report to the federal level.
- e. Oversee working of Provincial Sustainable Development fund.
- f. Approve appropriate incentives to further NSDS goals
- 3. Local Sustainable Development Council (L-SDC): This third tier would be the most important tier and would be established at the district level with its composition and placement to be decided by either the province or the local government, if present. It would be responsible for:
 - a. Generating community driven ideas and concept notes for project development.
 - b. Actual implementation of the projects approved at provincial level.
 - c. Physically monitoring the progress
 - d. Reporting back on implementation to the provincial level.

Implementation Framework

Institutional mechanism driven by an "action" agenda



Figure 19: Three tiered institutional framework for sustainable development

5.4. Means of Implementation

The above-mentioned institutional framework, driven by the action agenda, will also require other facilitating factors to create a conducive enabling environment for implementation. In this regards, the following are of particular relevance:

• **Financing:** Of prime importance is the issue of generating financing for sustainable development and this also is one of the biggest challenges. In this regards, it is proposed that at the onset the N-SDC should undertake a budget tracking exercise to estimate the level of existing funding on SD issues in Pakistan. This baseline funding should then be channelized through a dedicated *Sustainable Development or Climate Change Fund*⁷⁷. The detailed contours of this fund need to be worked out, under the overall guidance of the PSDC, in order to make it an effective vehicle for attracting and leveraging funds from donors as well as private sector entities and syncing it with international indicators such as the MDG's or the newly proposed SDG's. In addition to this, there should be a

⁷⁷ The National Climate Change Policy 2012 already has provisions of a Climate Change fund and with the high overlap between SD and CC this could well be used

focus on reducing environmentally damaging subsidies and adoption of sustainable public procurement policies – both of which can make significant contributions to financing of sustainable development in the country.

- **Capacity for sustainable governance:** Given the bottom up approach for project implementation and identification of sustainability concerns, it is essential to strengthen the governance capacity of local as well as provincial Governments and other stakeholders to craft integrated and sustainable solutions. Specific capacity strengthening programs, if so required, will be instituted for this purpose.
- **Incentives:** Incentives such as tax breaks, subsidies duty and fiscal relaxations will be approved through the PSDC as well as the provincial sustainable development councils to attract public and private investments while ensuring ecological sustenance of depleting resources.
- **Transparency and Accountability:** Efforts will be made to ensure transparency of implementation systems and also subject the process to strict accountability to enable integrity of outcomes. In this regards, steps will be taken to keep stakeholders informed and encourage public consultations and disclosures.
- Legislative and regulatory steps including time-line: Depending on the evolving national circumstances, the NSDS may be backed with appropriate legislation as this has been one way of ensuring success in some countries. Also, the NSDS proposes the creation of Standing Committees on Sustainable Development in the Senate as well as National Assembly as this will assist in extending valuable political ownership and accountability to the process.
 - **a.** The appropriate legislation may be drafted and tabled for approval of the National Parliament within *three months* of the approval of this strategy (Figure 20).
 - **b.** This legislation can include the suggested changes to the PEPC, mandating/renaming as N-SDC and the formation and operationalisation of the National Sustainable Development Fund as well as provincial programs within a *six month* timeline.
 - c. The formation of new Standing Committees should also be part of this legislation.



Figure 20: Timeline for Operationalising and Monitoring the NSDS

- **Civil society involvement:** Efforts have been made to engage and involve civil society organizations in the NSDS consultation process and such engagement should continue for effective implementation and oversight as well as propelling the process through civil society activism. Provinces will be encouraged to include appropriate civil society representation in the Provincial SD commissions, which can be a very valuable source to build public support as well as ensure enforcement of NSDS goals through collaboration and partnerships.
- **Private Sector:** The private sector is the main engine of growth and needs to be incentivized into action as well as engaged through public-private partnerships for sustainable development.
- International cooperation: Various multilateral agencies⁷⁸ have been traditional partners in Pakistan's development. Efforts will be made to enhance this role to further sustainable development based upon the country driven objectives outlined in the NSDS especially for leveraging development financing.
- Science, Technology and Innovation (STI): The advancements in STI are providing new knowledge for environmental as well economic and social sciences. Together they constitute knowledge systems and networks for Global Change and are being used to build the structure of Sustainable Development. The NSDC, as the umbrella body, can set up a *National Knowledge Management System* or thematic working group which can be made responsible for strategic thinking about NSDS, support the goals with focused academic research and also foster ways of encouraging solution driven innovation – for policy, information gathering, technology development or institutional relationships. Collectively leveraging knowledge and innovation would certainly deliver results for future sustainability.
- Awareness raising and communication: This aspect is crucial for any behavioral shifts to occur. As the success of sustainability rests upon that it would be essential to design a comprehensive communications c that can create mass awareness about sustainable development and inculcate public conscience about environmental issues.

5.5. Monitoring of implementation

The successful implementation of the NSDS has to include a comprehensive process for monitoring supported by a feedback mechanism that can incorporate positive learning and ensure continuous improvement.

- A bottom up monitoring system is proposed which can collect information and data from the ground implementation through Local SD Commission and then report back to the Provincial SD Commission (Figure-19).
- In turn, they can systematically monitor them against targeted outcomes of projects as well as plans and/or sustainability indicators⁷⁹ to generate *Annual provincial progress reports*.

⁷⁸ Pakistan has been collaborating with United Nations agencies, particularly the UNDP, UN Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UNESCAP), United Nations Environment Program (UNEP), Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Secretariats of the Multilateral Environmental Agreements (MEAs) for the execution of various initiatives on sustainable development in Pakistan. The country has also received assistance from multilateral agencies including the World Bank and Asian Development Bank as well as bilateral donors such as Japan International Cooperating Agency (JICA), Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA), US AID and Government of the Netherlands etc. The country has also received assistance from other UN agencies.

⁷⁹ Pakistan is one of the few developing countries of the world that have developed an integrated set of indicators to allow analysis of the inherent trade-offs and inter-linkages between the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. These indicators, developed through National Environmental Information Management System (NEIMS) project, for which data is currently

- These provincial reports will also include feedback about suggested improvements that can be incorporated to enhance implementation efficiency and will also form the basis for suggesting incentives for sustainable action at the local level.
- These yearly provincial SD progress reports will then be collated at the Federal level by N-SDC for internal consumption as well as used as a basis to compile *Three yearly SD reports* for presenting at global forums.
- Also, to ensure its relevance for the ongoing development process it is proposed that the whole NSDS document will also be *dynamically updated every three years*, if need be, to include feedback from these three yearly SD reports, incorporate any new and emerging issues as well as regularly update the country statistics and collect reliable and verifiable data on the environment, social and economic fronts.

Finally, in implementing the NSDS, the challenge is to evolve, and not rigidly impose, a system that can effectively reset the country's development and growth trajectory on to a more sustainable pathway. The current NSDS frames Pakistan's country driven future blueprint for a green economy.

In future, there should be continued support and policy shift towards sustainable development concerns, continuously driven through a network of facilitating institutions and in line with the prioritized needs of the country as well as the constantly evolving global agenda.

5.6. Integrating with the outcomes of Rio+20

The recently concluded Rio+20 conference adopted an outcome document titled "The Future We Want"⁸⁰. Although this outcome has been criticized for its lack of ambition⁸¹, it has managed to re-affirm the principles of Rio in particular the CBDR (Common But Differentiated Responsibility) while also acknowledging that sustainable development is not only the viable way forwards but that this concept is as much about protecting the environment as it is about creating jobs, eliminating inequities and reducing poverty.

Also, within the outcome document an overall definitional framework has been elaborated for the concept of "Green Economy". More importantly, countries have been left with the opportunity and flexibility to draw out their own homegrown plans for a green economy and report on them.

Pakistan's National Sustainable Development Strategy provides an invaluable opportunity to project its country pathway towards shaping a green economy. As already outlined, with its defined goals and focused action agenda focused on *poverty eradication, encouraging efficiency and innovation and expanding green jobs* this document provides a clear national framework which needs to be domestically implemented and also integrated within the global sustainable development framework.

In line with the new ideas and commitments coming out of Rio +20, Pakistan needs to be cognizant of and fully engaged with the following processes:

• Sustainable Development Goals (SDG's): In Rio, a process to define the Sustainable Development Goals has been set in motion that is to be steered and managed by the UN General Assembly through a small but representative "Open Working Group". These SDG's could provide a forward global transition from the Millennium Development goals, which expire in 2015, and help to shift the global growth trajectory towards a more sustainable pathway. Quite importantly, this institutionalized process was initiated by Pakistan through proposals floated within the G77 group.

being collected, can assist in monitoring the progress in the implementation of NSDS. The PCSD should also ensure that these indicators are prioritized for national needs but are also aligned to the MDG's and the newly evolving SDG's at the global level.

⁸⁰ www.uncsd2012.org/thefuturewewant.html

⁸¹ Aslam, Malik Amin (June, 2012), "The Glass Half Full at Rio", Article appearing in the "NEWS" daily Pakistan.

The nationally defined NSDS goals, outlined in this document, need to be used as a platform to actively engage in the international debate on the SDGs and positively influence their formulation.

- The Rio outcome document has also initiated a global debate about exploring "**beyond GDP**" as a means of measuring national development progress. In this regards, the economic and social resilience of Pakistan, as also highlighted in the NSDS as a unique strength, needs to be furthered and incorporated in this debate.
- A high level political forum on sustainable development, which was announced at Rio, is now set to replace the faltering Commission on Sustainable Development and could prove to be an effective body if it can be ably supported by an active secretariat and can be designed to meet regularly, in stead of the two weeks a year which the previous Commission met. The tasks mandated for this body will be elaborated through the UN General Assembly and should include improving coordination within UN, sharing good practices and supporting capacity building for sustainable development. Again the NSDS should inform our representatives in the UNGA about Pakistan national priorities for engaging in the ensuing negotiations.
- Overall the NSDS has aimed to shape the contours of Pakistan's "green economy" through an extensive national stakeholder consultation. This politically owned viewpoint needs to be integrated into the global debate through the various ongoing forums in the post Rio+20 pathway. This will assist Pakistan in positively influencing the outcome on this loosely defined concept while also positioning the country to benefit from any future financial mechanisms that should evolve to further the global green economy agenda.

ⁱ GIS and Remote Sensing based tools and technologies have been in use to assess forest cover for the last two decades in Pakistan. The national level forest cover studies based upon satellite images include the Forestry Sector Master Plan (1992) and National Forest & Range Resources Study (2004). ⁱⁱ UNEP, Asia Pacific Environment Outlook / <u>http://www.rrcap.unep.org</u>

ⁱⁱⁱ Parry, Martin etc, "Assessing the costs of adaptation to climate change", IIED publication, 2009, United Kingdom.